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GARYHALL,
having been first duly swom to testiry to the truth,
tle whole truth and nothing but the truth, testified
upon his oath as follows:

EXAMINATION
BYMR,PERRY:

Q Good moming, sir. My name is Terance Perq/.

I represent Kleinhans Faxms, LLC with regard to the
North Shore Ranch project. I'm here to ask you some
questions today about your involvement and, in
particular, your involvement in rendering a final
decision to deny the subdivision application.

Before we get going, just a couple of ground
rules. If you don't understand one of my questions just
tell me. I'm happy to rephrase it. Ifyou need to take
a break at any point in time, not a problem, as long as

there's not a question in front ofyou.
For the transcipt, for it to be clear, you and

I can't kind of talk over each other. So if you could
just give me a chance to get the question out before you
answer it, and I'll do the sane with you with resp€ct to
your answers.

Can you please state your full name for the
record?

A Garv Duane Hall.

L7
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1 Q And yow date ofbirth? 
Pase 5

2 A ll8/48.
: Q And your curent residential address?

4 A 969 Vans Avenue.
s Q And can you spell Vans Avenue?

6 A V-a-n-s, V as in Victor.
7 Q Can you tell me a little bit about your

e educational background, starting with high school'
s A High school, college, business college in

to Honolulu, Hawaii; military, Vietnam, 18 months Vietnam
11 Started my first business in 1 971 , and owned and
rz operated businesses for twenty-five years. And then
13 lasl stint was county commissioner.
14 Q I,et me just parse that out a little bit. Where
rs did you go to high school?
16 A Flathead.
L7 Q Flathead. And you graduated in what year?

18 A'Sixty-seven.
19 Q And then where did you go for schooling at that
20 point?
2L A Went to - entered the military. After
22 Vietnam, then I went to Honolulu Business College.
23 Q How long were you in Vietnam?
24 A Eighteen months.
2s Q And when you came back, you went right to

Page 7

1 A tIh-huh.
z Q And did you operate tlat for some period of
3 time?
{ A For two years.

s Q And what did you do then, in terms of
e employment?
r A I then opened an antique store ard operated the

e plant store at the same time, kind of in the same

s building.
lo Q And was that in Honolulu?
xl A Uh-huh.
L2 Q Oh, and just one more rule of the road, so to
rr speak. You've got to verbalize your answers. The
14 slenographer cant take down head nods or shakes ofthe
1s head. So uyes" or "no," just so we have a good
16 transcript.
L7 Okay. So you had the plant store and the
18 antique store going at the same time in Honolulu. How
19 long did you operate both ofthose businesses?
20 A Oh, I think approximately three years.

2t Q And what did you do then?
22 A Four years, I don't remember; three or four
23 years.

24 Q Okay.
2s A After the antique business, I don't remembera

L7
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Honolulu?
A No; I went to Seattle for a year and then was

discharged from Seattle. Then I came back here and then
moved to Hawaii, just a couple months after coming back
to the Flathead in'69.

Q And the college you attended in Hawaii, I'm
sorry, what was the name?

A Honolulu Business College.
Q And you graduated from there?
A No, Ijust went one semester.

Q And what did you do at that point in time, just
in terms of education, if anything?

A That was it.
Q And that one semester that was in '69?
A No, it was in, I think, '70.
Q'Seventy.
A Yeah.

Q And what did you do at that point in time after
you attended that school for a semester?

A I started my first business. I worked at
Salvation Army as a truck driver for, I think, almost a
year and then started my first busmess.

Q And what was that business?
A It was a plant store.

Q A plant store?

10
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lot ofit, what we were doing back then, it was so long
ago.

What does ihis have to do with this case?

MR. MCCORMICK: He's entitled to ask you

background information just to get a feel for you as a
person.

THE WITNESS: Okay. I'm just trying to
remernber.

Q (By VIr. Perry) So you just don't remember what
you did after you stopped running the plant store and
the antique store?

A I'm trying to remember. No, I don't rernember.

Q Okay.
At some point in time did you leave Hawaii?

A I left in - I came back at Christmastime
of '76 and met my wife - my future wife, and went back
to Hawaii for a couple months, came back and got
married, and then we went on a two-month honeymoon and

moved back here and have been back ever since.

Q And you met your wife here in Montaaa?
A Right.
Q And when you came back to Montana for good, can

you approximate for me what year that would have been?

A 'Seventy-seven.
Q 'Seventy-seven. And what did you do at tlat
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point for emplolment, here in Montana?
A Well, I started out - when we first got back,

there was no work here. I was cleaning carpets for
approximately a year, and then I worked at Superior
Building Company in Columbia Falls as an opemtor, and
tlen I went to work, in probably '81 , for a travel
agency. And I became rnanager ofa travel agency. And
then we opened a -- built and opened a new restaurant in
1984 in Columbia Falls, operated that for ten years,
sold that, bought a city block with houses on it in
Columbia Falls, and tumed it into a bed and breakfast
resort - little mid-resort and operated that for
twelve years and sold that - or yeah, sold that.
During that time I worked at Costco. I was in sales and
marketing at Costco during the time we had the bed and
breakfast, and then was mayor five years in Columbia
Falls before I ran for office for commissioner seven
years ago and worked full time at the commissioners.

Q Okay; fair enough. Thank you.
Wlat year were you elected as a commissioner

of - for Flathead County?
A Nineteen ninety-eight.

Q And you've been a comrnissioner ever since then?

A No, no. My offrce -- I was not re-€lected last
year, so my tenn ended December 3 1 , 2008 .
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t mayor, we only hadjust a very small handful of
z subdivisions to even look at, but nothing that - and
3 an)'thing close to the scope ofwhat we dealt with as a
l commission.
s Q And after you became a commissioner, I know you
6 were a commissioner for a fair amount of time, can you
z approximate for me, on an annual basis, how many
a subdivision applications you reviewed?
g A You know, there's no way, without looking back

10 on the records, that I could answer that question
11 accurately. I haveno idea. It seemed like for a while
12 there were quite a few coming across the desk and took a
13 lot of time to deal with those. But I really - Iu wondered that question myself.
ls Q Yeah. And I was just looking for your best
16 ballpark estimate, you know, ten a year, a thousand a
L7 year? Is there any estimate you could give me?
18 A No, I really couldn't.
1e Q Okay; fair enough.
20 After you were elected commissioner for
21 Flathead County, what, if any, training did you undergo
zz with regard to subdivision process under Title 76 ofthe
2 3 Montana Code?
24 A No real official training, other than just
25 workshops at our annual MACo conferences which theyjust

Page 10

1 Q For how long - how many years were you a
z commissioner for Flathead County?
3 A I've got the date wrong there, I thi*. I'm
4 sorry; your question again?
5 Q How many ye.rs were you a commissioner for
o Flathead County?
7 A Six years.

e Q Six years. And what year to what year?
e A It was 2002. I think I was mayor in'98, and

ro 2002 would have been the year I was elected as

11 commissioner.
L2 Q So 2002 to the end of2008.
13 A Yeah.
L4 Q Sir, prior to becoming a commissioner for
15 Flathead County, what, ifany, experience did you have
1G in land use planning?
L7 A Well, before commissioner, I was the land use
1s issues that we dealt as a mayor in Columbia Falls for
rr five years.
20 Q And when you were in Columbia Falls serving as

21 mayor, did you have any involvement iq you know, zoning

22 initiatives or land use planning issues, that type
23 thing?
24 A On a very limited scale. We do not have a lot
z s of development in Columbia Falls. I think frve years as

10
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talk about, at those conferences, some ofthe things,
pitfalls that can happen in land use planning and give
like real<ase stories. But there wasn't even any real
training done at those MACo conferences, just
discussions ofwhat happened in this county, what
happened in that county. But nothing real structured or
officially put together for training in land use.

Q And MACo, that's the Montana Association of
Counties?

A Of Counties.

Q After you became commissioner, did you receive
any training or education regarding the subdivision
review process from the county attomey here in
Flathead?

A Not that I recall.

Q Let me ask you a question. While you were a
commissioner reviewing suMivision applications, did you

have any custom or habit \nith respect to consulting with
the county attomey on subdivision applications?

A Very seldom. There was times that, obviously,
I would call and ask questions. But - yeah, I think
it's safe to say that I would consult with the county
attomey, yeah, on questions that I rrould have.

Q Do you recall having consulted with the county
attorney regarding the North Shore Ranch project?

11
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A Interestingly, I do not recall. I may have,

but I cannot recall actually specifically. I remember

doing that particular subdivision with - without much

input from the outside. I just spent a lot of time
doing my own research. But I'm sure I consulted the

county attomey at some point, but I don't recall.

Q With respect to the North Shore Ranch project,

and we'll get into the final decision in geater detail
later today, but do you recall having read the actual
PP&L easements regarding that property?

A I read - I always read everything that comes

to me --

Q Okay.
A - on every subdivision.

Q So if it were in the administrative record, so

to speak, you would have read it.
A tlh-huh.
Q That's a yes?

A Yes; sorry.

Q In the time that you were a

commissioner -- strike the question.
As we know, one ofthe bases for denial ofthe

North Shore Ranch project was the fact that it was
encumbered by the PP&L easement; fair to say?

A Could you repeat your question?

L4
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in fact, subject to that easement?

A I do not recall that.

Q Okay. To your recollection - well, strike the
question.

Do you know whether or not any other
subdivision application was ever denied during your

tenure as a commissioner based on tle fact that it
involved property encumbered by the PP&L easement?

A I do not recall that.

Q You'd agree with me that Flathead County
subdivision regulations, while you were a commissioner,

had to be applied fairly and in an even-handed manner

with respect to al1 applicants.
A I think I understand your question, but go

ahead and repeat it so I don't -
Q Sure. You'd agee rnith me that the Flathead

County subdivision rcgulations that were in place while
you were a commissioner, had to be applied faidy and in
an even-handed manner with respect to all applicants.

A I think it's fair to say that that was my

8

9

10

11

15

L7

18

19

20
21 position.
22 Q Okay. And you'd agree with me that if two
z I applicants were similarly situated, in terms of having
2{ property near each other, similar vicinity to the lake,
zs similar vicinity to the WPA, similar soil

10

Page'14

Q Sure. It's true, is it not, that one ofthe
reasons that the North Shore Ranch application was
denied was the fact that it had tlle PP&L easement on tlle
property.

A Ifthat - I believe the record shows that.

Q ln the time that you were a commissioner il
Flathead County, do you recall having reviewed any other
subdivision application that was subject to the PP&L
easement?

A I can only - I cannot give you a definite
recollection ofthat. I can recall reading it at some
point during the six years of seeing that. But I
couldn't give you specifics.

Q Okay.
A I had seen that, yeah.

Q Okay. So it's true, then, that while you were
serving as a commissioner for Flathead County, aside
from the North Shore Ranch project, you had occasion to
review a subdivision -- another subdivision application
or applications that involved land that was also
encumbered by the PP&L easement.

A I would assume so, yes.

Q And do you recall, sitting here today, whether
or not any other application regarding property that was
subject to the PP&L easenent was denied because it was,

11

14
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characteristics, they should be treated similarly,
should they not?

A Well, you're asking me to agree with you on a
fact that is - that -- I made my determinations on
every single subdivision based on the information that I
had at that tine and my perception ofwhat was given to
me and what I gathered and what I researched. So for me

to agree with you that I have made different decisions
on different subdivisions, you know - again, your
question's - you know, Im trying to answer it fairly,
But like I say, I've already forgotten your question,
how you posed it. Your asking me to agree with you and

so I'm thinking how I'm to agree with you. But no,
every subdivision is different, and every fact or every
bit of information that comes that I use for my decision
on that $lbdivision is based on that information. It's
not based on what I did on another subdivision.

Q I understand. And let me just put it anotler
way. When you and Mr. Brenneman voted to deny the North

Shore Ra:rch application, obviously one ofthe reasons
you voled to deny it was the fact that it was encumbered

by the PP&L easement; correct?
A Ifthat's what the record shows, yes.

Q Why don't we get the record out.
A Swe.

'II
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r Q Exhibit 57. Oh, I'm sorry; it's not exhibit
z 57.
3 MR MCCORMICK: How about 40.
4 MR PERRY: 40, right on top of the pile.
s Q (By Mr. Perry) Exhibit 40. Do you have that
6 in front of you?
z A I do.
8 Q Do you recognize this document as the final
g decision liom the Flathead Board of Commissioners

10 regarding the North Shore Ranch project?
11 A I do.
L2 Q Okay. And it's fair to say that one ofthe
13 reasons articulated for denial ofthe subdivision
14 application was the existence of flood easements. And
r s it's referenced on page four of the document.
16 A Yes.
Li Q And I see that on page four, under finding
ra number 58, there's a paragraph C, and it states, and I
19 quote, "The commission's determination that the proposed

z o subdivision's unmitigated impacts on public heal*r and
z r safety per Section 76-3-608(3)(a), MCA, were
22 macceptable was based on evidence of flood easements

zr held by PP&L on the subject property," close quote.
24 Have I read that correctly?
2s A Yes.

10

Page 19

application, that that was something that could not be
mitigated by the applicant; is that true, existence of
the easement?

A That's true.

Q Okay. And so you'd agree with me that any
subdivision applicant in Flathead County who is seeking
approval of a residential subdivision on land encumbered
by the PP&L easement would at least, with respect to
that issue, be similarly situated to the North Shore
Ranch project.

A No.
MR MCCORMICK: I need to object for the

record. The prior question misstated the testimony -
or misstated the language in the letter. Which I can
explain ifyou want or I'll leave it at that.

MR PERRY: That's fine.
THE WTINESS: My aoswer to that question is

no, that this particular property's location had, in my
mind, have been more affected by the flood easement than

other lands that maybe had the PP&L flood easement on
it. This one, with its location and proximity to the
water and all the things that I'm trying to recall why I
made my decision based on this, this is - as I stated
earlier, this is its own application and own
subdivision, own particular property. And what I did

1A

16

L7
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r Q So you'd agree with me tlat one ofthe reasons

2 that you and Mr. Brenneman voted to deDy this
3 application was the sheer fact that it was, in fact,
l encumbered by the PP&L easement.
s A I do not recall Mr. Brenneman's without reading
5 the record ofall ofhis reasonings. But I remember
r mine, and it did, in fact, include that concem with the
8 flood easement.
e Q Okay; fair enough. I don't want you to testiry

10 to Mr. Brenneman's thoughts or anything like that, just

11 what you know.
L2 So it's fair to say, then, that one of the
13 reasons you personally voted to deny the North Shore
14 Ranch application was the sheer fact that the land was
rs encumbered by the PP&L easement.
15 A Yes.
L7 Q Okay. And was that, to you, with respect -- I
1g know there were three bases for denial essentially
le articulated; impacts on wildlife and wildlife habitat,
2 o issues regarding potential harm from seismic activity,
21 and the existence of the PP&L easement. Is that fair to

say?
A I believe so; yes.

Q Okay. And with respect to the PP&L easement,
it was your opinion, when you voted to deny this

24
25

Page 20

with other subdivisions that had PP&L easernents have
nothing to do with this particular one. I felt this
particular one was unique.

Q @y Mr. Perry) Okay. With regard to this
issue regarding the PP&L easement, it's your testimony,
then, that other lands subject to that easement on the
lake did not pose the risk to public health and safety
that this land did. Is that your testimony?

A Based on this particular - the information I
had on this particular subdivision - what was your
question again?

MR PERRY: That - can you read my
question back, please.

(Whereupon the previous question was read back
by the court repoder.)

THE WITNESS: That's my testirnony in the
affirmative.

Q (By Mr. Perry) Okay. With respect to that
issue, during the course ofthe public meeting on April
23rd, 2008, you were presented with no evidence that
would support your testimony in that regard; isnt that

true?
A I was not presented - repeat your question.

Q Sure. At the time of the public meeting on
this application at which you voted to deny it, it's

L7

18

19

23

24

31i r!- l.l-ri{r.i p ti8:) (5) Page 17 - Page 20



L4

Page 21

true, is it not, that you were presented with no

evidence that would substantiate the conclusion that

this land, the North Shore Ranch property, was any more

at risk from flooding with respect to the PP&L eas€ment

than any other land on the lake that was subject to that

easement,
A Based on the information I had in front ofme

on this particular subdivision, without remembering or
thinking ofany other subdivisions, what I felt the
information that I had, itjustified my decision based
on my concems for that easement.

Q And you'd agre€ with me that as a commissioner,

for you to make a determination such as that, that this
land, the North Shore Ranch property, was at greater

risk of harm due to the existence of the PP&L easement

than other land on the lake, you'd need to have evidence

in &ont of you to support that conclusion, would you
not?

A I can simply say yes. And I feel that I did
have that.

Q Okay; fair enough.
And you'd agree with me that in rendering a

decision on a subdivision application while you were a

cornmissioner, you were prohibited from speculating with
respect to potential impacts; right? You had to have

L7
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I documents regarding the North Shore Ranch project?

2 A l, in fact, was very frustrated with myself,
g because I had had meticulous records through the years.

I And I had a three-ring binder full of everything I had

s on this North Shore division - subdivision with where I
6 got my information. And I spent hours looking for it
z and have - it's gone. I can't find it. So I took a

I few minutes. And the only thing lve looked at today
e was actually this (indicating) and -

10 Q Exhibit 40?
11 A Exhibit 40 and, yeah, the Commissioners'
12 Joumal. That's the only two things IVe looked at.

13 Q Okay.
L4 A And I didn't even read this. Ijust glanced

1s through it.
15 Q Did you have a chance to read the
rz Commissioners'Journal?
18 A Yes.
19 Q And when you read the Commissioners' Joumal,
2 0 fair to say that at least in that j oumal describing the
z r public meeting on April 23, 2008, there isn't described
zz or referenced any testimony or statement from any
z I engineer or scientist, aside from engineers and
24 scientists provided by the applicant; fair to say?
2s A Fair to say.

10
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evidence.
A True.
Q And you'd agree with me that during the course

ofconsidering this application, you were presented with
evidence from the applicant in the scientific and
engineering disciplines; fair to say?

A Without looking at it, it's fair to say that it
was a good application, there was plenf ofinformation.

Q And by the way, have you ever had your
deposition taken?

A I have had one time.
Q Okay; when was that?
A Oh, approximately two years ago.

Q Ald was that involving a case here in Flathead?
A Yes.

Q Was it a land use case?

A I don't recall. To be honest with you - it
had something to do with - who was our friend we were
talking about? Rich DeJana is the one that did it, and
Ijust don't recall what it was about at the time.

Q And that's the only time you've been deposed.
A Yes.

Q Beside today.
A Uh-huh.

Q Before you came here today, did you review any
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Q Do you recall, sitting here today, what, if
any, evidence you relied upon in concluding that the
North Shore Ranch property was at geater risk for
flooding than other property on the lake subject to the
PP&L easement?

A You're talking about official? Repeat the
question.

MR. PERRY: Can you r€ad the question bacl
please?

(Whereupon the previous question was read back
by the court repoder.)

THT'. WITNESS: No.
Q (By Mr. Perry) You'd agree with me that if

there were two applicalts, one ofwhom being the North
Shore Ranch people, Kleinhans Farms, LLC, and there was

another applicart owned an identical piece ofland right
next to it, same soil conditions, same proximity to the
WPA, same proximity to the lake, similar habitat, you'd
agree with me that, in terms of those two applications,
they should be treated similaxly, should they not?

MR. MCCORMICK: Objection; speculation.

Q (By Mr. Perry) You get to answer.
A Yeah - based on -- no. My answer - that has

lsthing to do with the answer.
Based on the information I had for this
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padicular subdivision, the other guy's subdivision
aside, my decision was based on the information I
gathered for this particular subdivision. And, you
know, ifthe other subdivision had the exact information
that I received and that I gathered and that I had for
this particular subdivision, then it's fafu to say that
both should be treated equally. But the
subdivision - yeah, so....

Q Okay. Do you have an understanding regarding
the general soil characteristics on the north shore of
Flathead Lake in the vicinity ofthe North Shore Ranch
property and the WPA?

A From the information that I received, thatrs
pretty much it, other than as a child playing on the
Somers beach area and knowing how swampy it is over
there. And that's my limited knowledge.

Q Okay. And as you - while you were
commissioner, rather, fair to say that not only with
respect to this project but other projects, you had
occasion to review scientific data regarding soils
analysis in the vicinity of the WPA.

A I dont recall that.

Q Okay. You were one of the comrnissioners who
decided the Mackina\tr Estates application; right?

A Yes.
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r subdivision aside from this one we're discussing, the
z North Shore Ranch project, whether you ever voted to
r deny any subdivision predicated upon a risk ofharm from
+ a seismic event?
s A No, I dont recall. I do not recall that; no.
e Q Okay. Now, you'd agree with me that all of
z Flathead Valley is subject to the same seismic risk?
8 A Repeat your question.
e Q Sure. You'd agree with me that all of Flathead

ro Valley is subject to the same risk of a seismic event.
11 A The same - al1 ofFlathead County is at risk
tz of a seismic event, not that each area would be affected
13 the sarne.
14 Q Understood. But the risk of a seismic event,
rs it isnt limited to just the north shore of Flathead
15 Lake; right?
L7 A No.
18 Q It would include Bigfork; right?
19 A Yes.
20 Q Big Arm; riglt?
2L A Yes,
22 Q All of the towns that are in Flathead County.
23 A Absolutely.
24 Q They're at risk for a seismic event; right?
2s A Uh-huh.
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r Q That's in tle same general vicinity as North
Shore Ranch; yes?

A Yes.

Q And there are other subdivisions in that
general vicinity, within two or three miles of the North
Shore Ranch, that you had occasion to vote to approve

while you were a commissioner; fair to say?

A Approve or deny. I denied another one out
there as well.

Q Which one did you deny?
A I dont recall the name of it. It's across the

highway.
Q But you'd agree with me that in a general

s€nse. there are at least two or three subdivisions that
you voted to approve within a mile or two of the WPA.

A I assume so. I don't recall all ofthem. but
yes.

Q Okay. And we'll get to them in greater detail
later, because I do have them with me. But in a general

sense, when you evaluated those other subdivisions
within a couple of miles of the WPA, did you have any
concerns with regard to public health and safety related
to seismic events, with respect to those subdivisions?

A I do not recall that.

Q Do you recall, with respect to any other
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Q Yes?
A Yes.

Q You're not ofthe opinion that due to the risk
ofa seismic event in Flathead Countv. no residential
subdivision can be approved.

A I'm not of the mind -
Q You're not -
A - that no subdivision should be approved

because of seismic risk?

Q Yes.
A No, Im not ofthat mind.

Q So the risk of a seismic event, aside from this
project, it didn't drive the bus, so to speak, with
regard to other projects.

A No, it did not.

Q Okay. And in a general sense, while you were a

commissioner, you were aware that residential housing
can be safely constructed in a seismically active area.

A Depending on the soils and the location, yes.

Q And the structural engineering; right?
A Structural engineering is not under the purview

of the commissioners for land use only.

Q And in a general sense, though, I mean, youte
aware of the fact that residential structures are

constructed, and continue to be constructed in San
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Francisco, for instance.
A Richt.
Q And you're aware that's a seismically active

area.
A RiCht.

Q And, in fact, youke aware that all of
Califomia is a seismically active area.

A RiCht.

Q But yet, you were aware, while you were a
cornmissioner, that houses were being construct€d in
California, despite the tlreat of seismic risk.

A RiCht.

Q And you'd agree with me that in Flathead Valley
or Flathead County, rather, houses can be safely
constructed, despite the risk ofa seismic event.

A Depending on the location.

Q And in this particular case with regard to the
North Shore Ranch project, you were never presented with
any evidence, as a commissioner, that would lead you to
conclude that houses could not be safely construct€d on
the property, were you?

A I believe that by the hformation that I
received and that I nssimilated, it was, in fact, a risk
to build a home on this particular property.

Q Okay. IfI could refer you to Exhibits 46 and

11

14

L7

20

24

Page 31

construct housing on this property that would be safe;

fair to say?
MR. MCCORMICK: objection; the document

speaks for itself.
Q (By Mr. Perry) And take your time to read it,

sir, ifyou need to.
A Well, yeah. I mean, it says that construction

of residences of these type is feasible. However, they
are asking for specific recommendations for each
proposed lot to reduce the risk, which says to me, therc

is a risk.

Q Well, fair to say that in the middle of the
paragraph, toward the end of it, they state, and I
quote, "We anticipate that foundations will be able to
be constructed on the native soils in some areas and

that excavation below foundation level and replacement

with granular structural fill will be necessary in other
areas," close quote. Have I read that correctly?

A That's what I'm reading as well; yes.

Q Okay. And I see that in the next sentence they
indicated, quote, "Concrete slab-on-grade floors with no
basements or crawl spaces are recornmended to reduco the

risk of moisture problems affecting interior finishes
due to high groundwater levels and capillary rise,"
close quote. Have I read that correctly?
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47.
A Okay.

Q 46 first.
A Tom Cowal. Tom Cowan and I were friends from

high school.

Q Do you remember having seen this two-page
letter signed by John W. Ayers, PE and Joshua C. Smith,
PE?

A Your question was do I recall seeing this?
Q Yes, sir.
A I - no. I mean, I'm sure I did. But I mean

as far as do I remember specifically when this came in

1
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u and reading it, no. But if this is part ofwhat I
u received, then obviously I did receive it.
1s Q Okay. And just for clarification's sake, I
16 suggest to you that counsel for the county provided this
rz to me during the course of this litigation. And it's
18 Bates stamped, as you see at the bottom, FBCC, standing

rg for Flathead Board ofCounty Commissioners. Do you see

20 that?
2L A Yes.
22 Q And I see in this engineering report from CMG
23 Engineering here in Kalispell, on January 25, 2008, two
24 engin€€rs, Josh Smith and John Ayers, both stated, the
z s second paragraph on page two, that there were ways to

Page 32

I A You read that correctly which gives me, even at
2 this time, cause to reflect that this is not a good land
r makeup for a subdivision.
4 Q And that is solely because ofthe high
5 groundwater?
e A The high groundwatet the special things that
z would need to be - the helical piers and different
8 viable foundation options; yes, that causes me concem.
e Q Okay. So even though in this letter these two

ro engineers identifr construction techniques that are
11 feasible on this property -L2 A Uh-huh.
13 Q - you essentially didn't believe those
u opinions; fair to say?
ls MR MCCORMICK: objection; misstat€s the

16 testimony.
L7 THE WITNESS: The facts are there, It's
1s not that I didn't believe thern. The facts are in the
19 iotter.
20 Q @y Mr. Perry) Well, what facts can you point
21 to in this letter that substantiate any opinion
22 or -- strike the question.
23 What facts can you point to in this letter that
2{ stand for the proposition that residential housing
2s cannot be safely constructed on the property?
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r A It does not say that.
z Q Okay.
r A Nor did I say that.
l Q What did you say?
5 A I said it caused me concem.
e Q Okay. Well, concern's a little different from
z protecting public health and safety, is it not?
a A Okay; yes.
s Q Okay. And yourjob is to protect public health

10 and safety; right?
11 A Yes.
!2 Q And yourjob doesnt involve denying
rr applicafions based upon concems. It involves denying
14 applications based on evidence that substantiates your
15 opinion that there's a risk to public health and safety;
16 right?
Li MR. MCCORMICK: Objection; misstates the

18 law.
19 Q @y Mr. Perry) You get to answer, though.
20 A I guess you're going to have to repeat the
zr question.
22 MR. PERRY: Sure.
23 Once again, want to read that back?
24 (Whereupon the previous question was read back
25 by the court reporter.)
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:. housing could not be safely constructed on the property
2 at issue?
s A I do not recall.
+ Q You'd agree with me that absent such evidence
s in the record, or testimony to that effect, the
5 formation of an opinion that housing could not be safely
? constructed on this property would be based on
8 speculation, would it not?
s A Would you repeat the question?

ro IVIR. PERRY: Sure.
11 Can I have it read back, please.
L2 (Whereupon the previous question was read back
13 by the coud reporter.)
14 THT' WITNESS: Boy, I don't know how to
1s answer that. Could you repbrase it?
16 Q (By Mr. Perry) You bet. With respect to your
1? conclusion that there was a risk ofharm posed by the
18 high groundrvater and public health and safety required
19 you to vote to deny this application, at least in part
zo due to that issue --
2L A Okay.
22 Q - you'd agree with me that in order to reach
23 that conclusion that there was actually a risk ofharm
24 because housing could not be safely built on the
25 property, you'd need to have evidence that would support
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r THE WITNESS: Right.
z Q (By Mr. Perry) Sir, let me point your
3 attention. if I can. to another exhibit here.

4 A You mentioned 47, so wele not going there
s then?
s Q Wele going to hold that in abeyance for the
z time being, but we shall return.
e Do you recall ever having voted to approve any
g subdivision that was also subject to high groundwater?

r.o A I do not recall, sir.
11 Q Do you recall having voted to approve
r: subdivisions within a half a mile of the W?A?
13 A I do not recall.
14 Q Okay.
1s This Exhibit 47 -1,6 A Yes.
L7 Q - that was the attachment to the letter from
1s the professional engineers that we previously referred
le to, Exhibit 46. This is the helical pier data.

20 A Okay.
2L Q Do you recall having seen this document?
22 A I do not recall.
23 Q Okay. Do you recall whether or not any other
zr engineering firm or consultant or scientist ever
z s provided the county with any written opinion that

17
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that conclusion; right?
MR. MCCORi{ICK: objection; speculation.

THE WTINESS: Yeah. The question is
difficult to answer because, you know, just based on the
facts ofwhat I received and all the information,
whether it's conclusive or not, is -- was enough to
cause me to deny.

Q (By Mr. Perry) Okay; let me ask you another
question. If the only evidence in the record had been

evidence from the applicant that stood for the
proposition that housing, in fact, could be safely
constructed on the property, you'd agree with me that
voting to deny the application, based on the conclusion

that housing could not be safely constructed on the
property, would rely upon speculation because there's no
evidence to support that conclusion.

MR MCCORMICK: Objection; calls for
speculation.

TEE WTINESS: You know, I don't - I don't

know what I'm missing here. But I based my decision on

all the facts, notjust that one bit of infomtation.

Q @y Mr. Perry) No, I understand that. And my
question is, in order to conclude that there is a risk
of harm because houses can't be safely built on the
property -
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A Uh-huh.

Q - you have to have some evidence that would
support that conclusion.

A Right.
Q Correct?

MR MCCORMICK: Objection; calls for
speculation. It's a hypothetical.

Q (By Mr. Perry) You'd agree with that.
A I felt I had enough infomration.

Q But as a general proposition, you'd agree with
me that in order to reach that conclusion, you have to

have evidence in the record that would support it;
nChr?

A Yes.

Q And if there's no evidence in the record to
support it, then that conclusion is arbitrary and
capricious, is it not?

MR MCCORMICK: Objection; calls for a
legal conclusion.

Q (By Mr. Perry) You get to answer, though.
A I guess I have to say yes, I - yeah.

Q Because in rendering a decision as a

cornmissioner on a subdivision application, you can only
consider the evidence that you have in the record to
make the decision; right?
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Q Actual evidence.
A While not recalling all that happened that day,

I don't recall if I introduced any of my own evidence or
not. But I would think that I would have the authority,

as a quasi judicial or as an elected county commissioner

making a decision based on this subdivision, that I, in
my research, ifl found evidence that coincided the

evidence that was before me, that I would bring that
forth. But I don't see - I guess the ansv/er to youl
question - the short answer, yes, I could bring
evidence into the case that I fou:rd.

Q Okay. And you did that in this case, did you
not?

MR MCCORMICK: Objection; calls for a

legal conclusion.
THE WITNESS: I don't recall.

Q (By Mr. Perry) Well, let me point you to a
couple ofexhibits that we went over yesterday with
Commissioner Brenneman, Exhibits 54 and 55. And
stading with Exhibit 54, I assume you recognize this
document.

A Oh, that's an assumption. We get a lot of
paperwork, and there was a lot ofpaper created on this
file. I do not recognize this. But it says at the
bottom that I, in fact, received tlis, so yes, I did see
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A Which I did; yes.

Q And you'd agree with me that as a county
commissioner at a public meeting, such as this one that
took place on April 23rd, 2008, you sit in a quasi
judicial capacity, do you not?

A Yes.
MR MCCORMICK: Objection; calls for a

legal conclusion.
THF WITNESS: Quasi judicial.

Q @y Mr. Perry) And sitting in that capacity,
in a quasi judicial capacity, it's your understanding,
is it not, that you and the other commissioners sit as
judges of some type; fair to say?

A Fair to say.

Q Okay. And you'd agree with me that as a
commissioner hearing a subdivision application at a
public meeting, you, sitting as ajudge, are prohibited
from introducing your own evidence?

MR MCCORMICK: Objection; calls for a

iegal conclusion.
Q (By Mr. Perry) Do you understard my question?
A I understand your question, yeah.

Q Would you agree with that?
A That I am not able to offer an ooinion or

actual evidence?
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it. But I don't recall it, in answer to your question.

Q Okay. Well, I see it became part of the
record, the administrative record in this case. It's
Bates stamped FCPZ, for Flathead County Plaming &
Zoning, 1119 through 1132.

A Okay.

Q And my question to you is, do you know how this
got into the administrative record?

A I do not. sir.

Q Okay. So this wasn't a document that you
utilized or relied upon in any way in rendering a final
decision on tlis application?

A I do not recall, sir.

Q Okay.
How about the next document. Exhibit 55? Do

you recognize that document?
A I do not.

Q It's true, is it not, that before you attended
the meeting, the public meeting on April 23, 2008, you
engaged in your own research regarding seismic risks in
the Flathead Valley.

A I vaguely recall doing some ofmy own research.

I don't recall what I did exactly.
Q Okay. It's my understanding that you actually

got onto the Intemet and did some rcsearch on seismic
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r events in Northwestern Montana. Is that not correct?
2 A I believe that that could have happened,
3 because I did that frequently.
4 Q Well, why dont we go to the commissioners'
5 minutes -- Commissioners' Journal.
e A Could I ask for a short break to go to the
7 batllroom?
s MR. PERRY: Oh, yeah; sure.
9 (Deposition in recess from 10:32 a.m. to

10 tu:J / a-m. I

11 Q (By Mr. Perry) Sir, the document that I
12 directed your attention to before our short break,
13 Exlibit 52, the Commissioners' Joumal dated 4/2312008
ra regarding the North Shore Ranch project, do you have
1s that in front of you?
16 A I do.
L7 Q And I believe you testified earlier you had a
18 chance to review tlat before your deposition today.
19 A Yes, sir.
20 Q And pointing your attention, ifl could, to the
2 1 thfud - fourth page of this document, Bates stamped
22 FCPZ385.
23 A Yes. sir.
24 Q And in the middle ofthe page I see it states,
2s and I quote, "Chairman Hall continued with salng that

10
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present on the property?
A I would assume, yes.

Q Okay. And I see that this document, Exhibit
52, goes on to sa5 and I quote, "Ilall then said
according to the USGS website, that liquefaction can be
defined as a physical process which can occur during an
earthquake when clay free soil temporarily loses
strength resulting in ground failure. Liquefaction
occurring beneath buildings and other structures can
cause major damage during earthquakes. Although
earthquakes in Flathead County are uncornmon and
relatively minor in recent history and the risk proposed
by liquefaction seems remote at this time, it seems
irresponsible for staffto ignore. Hall then read
project specific conditions number 20(d) that states:
Residents are advised that according to the geotechnical
assessment that w{ts conducted on the subject property
liquefaction on the subject property during a seismic
effect is a typical concern associated with the soil
type and depth to groundwater on the property subject
property. As a result, structures should be designed by
an engineer and built accordingly," close quote. Have I
read that correctly?

A As stated, yes.

Q So fair to say that at least in the
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Montana is one of the most seismic active states in the
United States. He then reviewed statistics of seismic
events in Montana and stat€d that w€ in the Flathead are
past due for a signifrcant earthquake with a magnitude
of 6.5 or greater," close quote. That's information
that you obtained yourself; fair to say?

A Apparently.

Q Okay. And that's not information that was
provided by the applicant; right?

A I do not recall.

Q Okay. I see that it goes on to state further,
quote, "In the geotechnical assessment of the subject
property performod by CMG Engineering and submittod with
the application, the engineer states that the potential
of liquefaction during the design level of an earthquake
is one of a variety of listed typical concerns with
residential construction on the t)?e of soils present on
this subject property," close quote. Have I read that
correctly?

A Yes. This Hall guy sounds pretty smart.

Q You recall the engineer stating, in words or
substance, though, that, you know, the risk of
liquefaction during a design level earthquake was, in
fact, one of a variety of typical concerns associated
with residential construction on the fyDe of soils

Il
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comnissioners' record ofthe hearing, the Commissioners'

Joumal, it's codified that you, in fact, stated at the
hearing that you had done some research yourself on the
USGS website regarding liquefaction.

A Yes.

Q And you made some statements into the record
regarding what you had learned and vlnt conclusions you

had reached, did you not?
A If the record so states, yes.

Q Well, you say at the end ofthat paragraph I
read tlat it's irresponsible for staff to ignore this
issue. Do you recall that statement?

A I'm so sorry; what did you just say again?
Could you repeat your question?

Q Sure; not a problem.
I see at the end ofthat paragaph that I read

that before the specific condition language, you
indicated that the liquefaction issue, so to speak, was
an issue that staffhad been irresponsible in ignoring.

MR. MCCORMICK: objection; misstates the

statement in the Joumal.
THE WTINESS: lm trying to follow you so I

can answgr it correctly.

Q @y Mr. Perry) Yeah. Let me just point your
aftention to it. It's risht here.
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Right.
Q It states in the Journal anyway, quote, "ft

seems irresponsible for staffto ignore," close quote.

Do you see that indication?
A Yes.

Q And when you made that statement in the public

meeting, you were referring to the liquefaction issue,

were you not?
A I believe I was.

Q Okay. So you obviously had the opinion that
staff appeared, to you anyway, to have been
irresponsible in iporing it, that issue; is that true?

A That's what the record shows that I said; yes.

L4 Q Okay. And you recall, do you not, that during
the course ofthis hearing - or this public meeting,
rather, the applicant's engineers essentially stated
that that risk was remote and that design tecbniques for
construction were available to address that risk; fair
to say?

A I recall - I believe the record shows that;
yes.

Q Okay. And I can't seem to find the language
now, but I seem to recall someplace in the Joumal, one

ofthe engineers indicated at the meeting that if there
had been a design level, if there were a design level
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r number of local nonprofits who wrote letters in
2 opposition to tlis project; fair to say?

3 A Fair to say.
r Q Okay.
s And while you were a commissioner from fiscal

G year 2002 through fiscal year 2008, were you ever a

r member of the Flathead Land Trust?
e A Oh, ao.
s Q Okay.

10 A 0h. no. no.
11 Q How about the Flathead Lakers?
L2 A Oh, no, no, no, no.
13 Q Were you ever a member of a Citizens for a

14 Better Flathead?
ls A Oh, my gosh, no.
16 Q Okay; I had to ask the questions. Hope you're
rz not insulted?
1s A I am, but I'll get over it.
19 Q And to your recollection, those three groups
20 were pretty vocal in their opposition to this project,
z t were they not?
22 A They were.
21 Q Did any ofthe members ofthose groups ever
zl seek to contact you before you voted to deny this
zs project?

4
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seismic event, the most likely result would be
settlement ofa house four to six inches. Do you recall
that testimony?

A I do not recall that.

Q Okay. Do you recall the engineers indicating,
in words or substance, that a design level seismic event
would not result in houses being sucked down into the
ground in a sinkhole-type ofthing?

A I dont recall that.

Q Okay; fair enough.
I see that there's a statement on page three of

this document, the Commissioners' Joumal, referencing
comments that Commissioner Lauman had made. He
indicated, and I quote, in the middle ofthat page,
quote, "Lauman stated there are a lot of emotional
issues with North Shore Ranch. But in reality, you need
to sort the emotional issues from the factual issues.
and they need tojudge their decision based on the
facts," close quote. Do you see that?

A I do.

Q Fair to say this pmject, this subdivision
application, was an application that created a fair
amount of opposition in tle community?

A Simple answer is yes.

Q And it's true, is it not, that there were a
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1 A Not to my knowledge.
2 MR. MCCORMICK: Objoction; foundation.

3 MR PERRY: I'm sorry?
4 MR MCCORMICK: objectioq foundation.

s MR PERRY: In terms of his having voting
6 to deny it?
? MR MCCORMICK: No. You asked if any of
8 those members sought to oontact him. He wouldn't know
r if any ofthose members sought to contact them. He

ro would only know if members did contact him.
11 MR. PERRY: Fair enoush.

Q (By Mr. Perry) Do you know if any person who
was a member of any of organizations ever sought to
contact you during the pendency ofthis application
before you voted on it?

MR MCCORMICI(: Objection; foundation.

THE WITNESS: Again, I don't know. They
re may have tried, but they also lcrow that they did not
19 have easy access to me from past experience. I
zo was -- well, no.
2L Q (By Mr. Perry) Okay. Tell me about that past
zz experience you just referenced.
23 A Ijust - as a commissioner, there were certain
2 4 groups, ones that were just previously mentioned, that
z s while I would look at their information that came in. I
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would not give audience to them, ev€r. And so they knew
that. And so I - whether they attempted or thought
about approaching me, I'm not sure. But no, I did not
have a good working relationship with any of the
previously-mentioned groups.

Q Okay. On prior projects before the North Shore
Ranch project, do you recall any ofthem having tried to
contact you to discuss an application?

A No, I do not.

Q Okay.
Did you ever have occasion to actually visit

the North Shore Ranch property yourselfl
A Not with anyono. I did by myself. I drove

down and viewed it, took a little bit of a walk, not
much of a walk. But I know the area well.

Q Okay. And was that before you voted on the
application?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. Was it - I know it was some time ago.
Was it in the spring of 2008 that you visited?

A You know, it was. In fact, the weather wasnt
very good. Butlassume-yeah, I think it was, yeah.

Q Okay.
A I don't remember much.

Q I'm sorry?
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come and try to influence you. Aad this one was based
on my own research, which I was actually personally
proud of.

Q Okay; fair enough.
During the course of your evaluation of this

project before you voted on it, and just for the record,
you did vote to deny it; right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Before you voted to deny this project,
had you had - strike the question.

Before you voted to deny this project, had you
come to leam that those organizations I referenced
earlier, the nonprofits, Flathead Land Trust, Flathead
Iakers, Citizens for a Better Flathead, were trying to
acquire some interest in the property?

A My recollection is I saw that in the newspaper.

Q Okay- And so before you voted, you had some
understanding that those organizations really were
trying to get an interest in the property; fair to say?

A Yes.

Q And in my review of the file, and I can show
you the letters if you need to refresh your memory,
USFWS, Fish and Wildlife Service, and Montana Fish,
Wildlife & Parks issued a number ofletters regarding
this project. Do you recall that, in a general sense?
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1 A No, I was just trying to think. March sounds
z about right.
3 Q Okay; approximately March you would have
r visited?
s A I can't recall.
6 Q Okay. Spring of '08, though; we know that.
? With respect to this proj ect in terms of your
8 evaluating it at the public meeting and rendering a

s decision, voting on it, do you feel pressured to vote
10 for a denial, given public sentiment about it?
1r A Absolutely not.
L2 Q Okay.
13 A This - it's interesting .. well....
L4 Q Go ahead.
1s A You'd like that.
16 Q I just want a complete thought.
L1 A A complete thought? Me? No, this - I had
Lg never met with the developers. I had never met witb
19 their attorneys. I had never been on the project. I
20 have never been to a public meeting. And this was one

er ofthe subdivision - large subdivisions, controversial
22 so to speak, I guess by your own words, that I based my
23 decision based on my - what was before me and my own
zr research and not by talking to either side. And a lot
zs oftimes it was hard not to have one side or the other

L4

Pagd 52

A In a general sense, yes.

Q Do you recall that, in a general sense, one of
the requests they made to the county in thet letters
was that the county delay a decision on the project,
pending finalization of the growth policy and in order
to give thern time to work with others to try to acquire

the property.
A I felt that -- I have similar feelings toward

those two orgalizations you just mentioned as I do the

three previous to that. I have seen mismanagement in
their organization- And being an avid sportsman, have

not agreed with much of what they do. And so I felt
that they were - ii got to the point of where they
would come in, I'd glance through it, pick up the
highlights of the letter and set it just in the file of
all the letters that were coming in. And I noticed
there seemed to be a push to get us to deny. And I
purposely did not give a lot ofbrain time to those
letters.

Q ln a general sense, over tbe six years

approxirnately that you were a commissioner dealing with

subdivision applications in Flathead County, oftentimes

Fisb, Wildlife & Parks would submit an opinion letter or
letters, would they not?

A More and more as time went alons. In the
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beginning of my term, hardly ever. And at the end,

every one.

Q Right; and multiple ones on this file'
A Yes.

Q Did you ever form an opinion. as you were going

along in your tenure as a cofirmissioner, that Fish,
Wildlife & Parks was biased against development in this

area2
A In this particular area, geographical area?

Q Just in Flathead Valley, in the Flathead
County. Did you ever form an opinion, you know, a
personal opinion, that Fish, Wildlife & Parks was biased

or prejudiced against development?
A That's both a yes and no question. At cedain

times I felt that there was a bias against development.
And yet, at other times I did not sense that tlat was
the purpose.

Q Okay; fair enough. With regard to this
particular project, do you recall having reached any
conclusion or formed any opinion that, in your opinion,
they were biased, FWP, against this project?

A I don't recall.

Q Okay. And I notice you had testified that as

time went on as you were commissioner, FWP issued more

and more impact letters regarding subdivision

1{
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regarding geological issues and liquefaction, had you

previously been knowledgeable about those issues? If
you don't understand my question, just teil me. It
wasnt worded the best.

A Believe it or not, I understood that one. I
had heard of liquefaction. I had not applied it
to -- that I can recall, to any other subdivisions. I
had heard of that, I think, even before I became a
commissioner. But I had not used that information in
applying to other subdivisions.

Q Okay; fair enough.
Have you ever been on the WPA, the Flathead

Waterfowl production area?
A Waterfowl - no. I have not walked the trail

that's there.

Q In the time that youVe lived in Flathead
County, have you eyer heard of anybody on the Eagle Bend

golf course being hurt by rifle hunting, rifle use on
the WPA or shotguns?

A I have not heard that.

Q And as a general proposition, do you read the
local newspaper here?

A No, not anymore.

Q Okay; was there a time?
A Yeah. there was a time where I read it
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developments; correct?
A Uh-huh.
Q The answer is yes?
A Yes; I'm sorry.

Q That's okay. And I notice that they, both of
them, submitted multiple letters regarding this project.
And I looked at some of tle other letters regarding
prior projects that you had voted on in this county.
And it seemed like, as time went on, their letters got
kind of more inflamrnatory with regard to impacts on
wildlife and wildlife habitat. Do you share my opinion
in that regard?

A Yes, I do.

Q And I may have asked this question earlier.
Forgive me if I did. Do you recall, aside from this
project, having voted to deny any other project based on
any risk ofharm associated with seismic activity?

A I do not recall.

Q Do you recall having voted on any other
subdivision while you were a comrnissioner, voting to
deny it predicated upon any risk ofharm posed by
liquefaction?

A No, I do not recall.

Q Before you did this research that's referenced
in the Commissioners'Joumal marked as Exhibit 52
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r regularly.
z Q When you were a commissioner, did you read it?
3 A Yes.
r Q And before you were a commissioner, did you
s read it?
6 A Yes.
z Q All right. Bui after you ceased being a
s commissionel you stopped reading it?
9 A I get it on e-mail, and I read it sometimes. I

10 don't get it at my house like I used to or have it in my
tr office.
L2 Q Okay. And in all the issues that you read of
13 the local newspaper - and by the way, is it the Daily
la Inter Lake?
1s A Daiiy Mistake -- Daily Inter Lake, yes.

1d Q In any newspaper published by the Daily Inter
rr Lake, aly daily newspaper, did you ev€r see any adicle
18 or any information that in any way referenced anybody at
19 the Eagle Bend subdivision or on the golfcourse being
20 hurt by a hunter on the WPA?
2L A I do not recall.
22 Q If that had happened, if somebody had been hud
23 as a result ofhunting on the WPA, do you fe6l that
zl you'd remember that event?
2s A I would.
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Q While you were a commissioner, did you have
occasion to vote to approve or conditionally approve any
subdivision within a mile or two of the Blasdel WPA?

A I cannot recall specifics, but I believe that
maybe - maybe we did, yes.

Q Okay.
A I don't recail specifics.

(Deposition Exhibit No. 58 marked for
identification.)

Q Sir, the aerial color photograph marked as

Exhibit 58 to your deposition, I'd just like to ask you
to take a look at that for a minute just to familiarize
yourself with the map. I suggest to you it's an aerial
map ofthe North Shore Rarch property and surrounding

Is property. Does it appear to be so to you?
16 A Yes.
L7 Q Okay. Now, I see at the -- it shows the lake.
18 And to the north ofthe lake we see delineated the
19 Flathead waterfowl production area; fair to say?
20 A Yes.
2L Q Okay. And I see that there are obviously a
z z number of parcels of land that are in the vicinity of
23 the North Shore Ranch and the waterfowl production area

24 that have been developed as residential subdivisions;
25 fair to say?
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approximation, how far fiom the Blasdel WPA would you
approximate lies the Goose Meadows suMivision?

A The Goose Meadows; approximately a quarter mile
up to a half a mile.

Q Up to a half a mile; okay.
And the Mackinaw Estates subdivision which is

down -
A That must be 255. Because it doesnt list

Mackinaw. They have Tiebucker, and then they have
subdivision 255, but they don't list it as Mackinaw
Estates. Or am I missing something?

Q No, I think you're a hundred percent right. I
think that's what happened. It was listed as 255. And
just let me ask you this question. To the west ofthe
WPA, to the northwest of the W?A, fair to say there are

a number of subdivisions that have been approved by the
county, including the Tiebucker subdivision and
subdivision number 255?

A Yes, it's safe to say that they are small
subdivisions that were approved there.

Q And with respect to the WPA, the Flathead
waterfowl production area, if I can shift your attention
to the east, it appears that there are several
subdivisions that have been approved by the county in
the general vicinity ofthe eastem section ofthe WPA
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1 A Yes.
z Q Okay. And do you recall the Sky View Estates

r subdivision which is, just for ease of access, it's up
r here (indicating) Sky View Estates. Do you recall that

s subdivision?
5 A I don't know why I can't find it.
r Q Well, let me ask you this question. Do you
a recall the Faxrnland Acres and Ficken Farms subdivision?

e A I recall that.
10 Q And I see that the Ficken Farms subdivision
11 nearly abuts the Blasdel waterfowl production area; is
12 that fair to say?
13 A Yes.
14 Q Okay. And you'd agree with me that the Goose
ls Meadows subdivision is in relative proximity to the
lG Blasdel production area?
L7 A Yes. sir.
18 Q And next to that we have subdivision number
le 243. Do you se€ that?
20 A Yes, sir.
2L Q And they're all kind of close to the WPA, the
zz Blasdel WPA; right?
23 A Yeah, relatively.
24 Q And you know this area far better than I
zs probably ever will. Can you tell me, your best
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as well; would that be fair to say?
A That would be fair to say.

Q And they would include Flathead River Landing
and Hanging Rock Harbor, would they not?

A Yes. sir.

Q And it's true, also, that obviously Harbor
Village, just to the south, was a subdivision obviously
approved well before you became a commissionor; tnre?

A Yes, sir. A11 ofthose on that side ofthe
river are in a very rock -- rocky area, solid rock
subdivisions.

Q And would you agree with me that the Harbor
Village subdivision - is that relatively the same
elevation as North Shore Ranch?

A According to your map, theyke exactly the
same.

Q Okay. And so would you agree with me or
disagree that they would both, ostensibly, suffer the
same risk ofharm from flooding?

MR. MCCORMICK: objection; speculation.

THE WTTI\IESS: No, I don't agree with that.

Q (By Mr. Perry) And in your opinion, is one at
more risk ofharm from flooding than the other?

A Yes.

Q Which one?
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North Shore Ranch.
Despite tley're at the same elevation-
Yes, sir.
Okay.
And in a general sense, you'd agree with me

that the county has approved a number of subdivisions in

the vicinity both of the Blasdel waterfowl production

area and the Flathead waterfowl production area.

A I would agree with that. If I may add the
statement that the Blasdel is different than the
Flathead in that it is in a higher elevation, yeah.

Q Okay. But in a general sense, with respect to
both ofthose WPAS, the county has, in the past,

approved or conditionally approved residential
zubdMsions that were in the general vicinity of both

of them.
A Yes.

Q Okay. In the time that you've lived in this
area, have you ever -- have you ever seen any ofthe
properties that abut the lake get flooded?

A I have not been in those areas during flooding;
no.

Q And you werent here in '64 for the big flood,
though; right?

A Yes.
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having observed the north shore of Flathead Lake get

flooded?
A No.
Q And in reviewing the file documents in this

case, I saw that there was an e-mail that was forwarded

by Dr. Mark Lorang at the Flathead Biological Station'

Is that the -
A I don't know.

Q Have you ever heard of Mark Lorang?
A The name sounds familiar, but I have no idea

who he is.

Q And I believe it's in front of you as Exhibit
48, ifI couldjust refer you to it for just a second.

A Okay.

Q Sir, the document marked as Exhibit 48 to
Commissioner Brenneman's doposition yesterday, I suggest

to you is an e-mail from Mark Lorang, a Ph.D. at the
Flathead Lake Biological Station to B.J. Grieve.

A Okay.

Q And you're familiar with B.J. Grieve.
A Yes, sir.

Q And while you were a cornmissioner, what
position did he hold with the county?

A He was the - probably the wrong title - but
the assistant director ofthe Flathead County Planning
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1 Q That's true or not true?
z A Yes.
3 Q You were here.
4 A Yes.
s Q Okay. So you saw the'64 flood.
G A Well, yeah, I saw it in Evergreen. We lived up
z north, and so I did not come dou,ar and spend time in any
8 areas that were flooded. I just saw Evergreen, and that
g was it.

10 Q Okay. Did you see any flooding in the vicinity
rr ofEvergreen?
t2 A Yes.
13 Q How bad was it?
L4 A It was - it was bad.
ls Q And IVe seen some data. You know, there's a
1c lot of data in this file, obviously. But my
tz recollection is there was some data recording that flood
r e that indicated that it was approximately a third of a
19 foot over the base elevation, 2892.9; that's correct.
20 A I'd just say that I'll assume you're correct.
21 I do not knortr that fact.
22 Q Okay. And I know you've lived here a long time
23 and you've seen the years pass here. I guess my
zt question is, after you got mari€d and you were residing
zs with your wife, having a family, do you recall ever

Page 8l

r and Zoning office.
2 Q And I see in the cover e-mail Dr. Lorang
3 states, and I quote, "Hi, B.J. Attached are figures that
l show lake levels for all of the USGS data that I have.
s There still are some gaps but for now this is the best I
5 can do. Mark," close quote.
r A Okay.
e Q Attached he sent tlree pages regarding lake
I elevations; fair to say?

10 A Yes.
11 Q Okay. And I see the first page is just one
12 that goes fiom approximately mid- I 998 up tbrough
r s approximately mld-2002, I believe.
14 A Okay.
15 Q And fair to say that, at least during that time
rc period, his data indicated that the lake had not gone
rz much over the 2893 mark.
18 A Right.
r.9 Q Is that consistent with your observations
2 o dudng that time period living here, in a general sense?

2L A In a general sense, yes.

22 Q And I see on the next page, he has a little
23 more encompassing data set. He provides daily lake
2{ elevations from approximately l9l0 up to 2000; fair to
zs say?
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1 A Yes, sft.
z Q Ard I see that his data, anyway, describe only
s a handful of occunences on which the lake exceeded
l 2893; approximately six of them. Is that fair to say?
s A ljh-huh.
e Q Yes?
? A Yes.
8 Q And I see that the highest elevation - lake
g elevation that was achieved during that time period was

ro approximately 2896. Is that fair to say?
11 A Yes, sir.
L2 Q Okay. And in a general sense, you're familiar
13 with the lake elevation under the FERK license that PP&L
u has held?
ls A Yes.
16 Q And it's 2892.9, is it not?
L7 A That sounds familiar. Ifthe facts show that.
18 then I would agree with that.
1e Q And I suggest they do. I guess my question
z o would be, you know, the highest events that we see in
z r almost a hundred years, at least from Dr. Lorang, is
zz only about tfuee feet over the average lake level.
23 Would that be a fair conclusion?
24 A Yes.
2s Q And in your opinion, knowing as much as you do
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1 long as you have and knowing as much as you do aboul the
z lake. Do you have an understanding as to whether the
r two dams at either end ofthe lake are capable of
I controlling lake level?
s MR. MCCORMICKI Same objection.
d THE WITNESS: They are.
z Q (By Mr. Perry) And do you have an
e understanding as to who operates the Kerr Dam?
g A I did. If Iwasto do my research again, it

to would come clear to me, But to be able to espouse what
rr it all means right now, no. But yes, I did. In my
t2 research, yes, I understood il.
13 Q And when you were a commissioner, was it the
14 same entity that controlled both dams; do you recall?
15 A No, I do not recall.
15 Q Okay. Do you have something you wanted to add?

17 Feel fiee.
18 A No.
19 Q When you were evaluating this project and
z o before you voted on it, did you gain an understanding,
21 in a general sense, that Fish, Wildlife & Parks was
22 working with Flathead l-and Trust, Flathead I-aken, and
zr other nonprofits to try to conserve the north shore of
24 Flathead Lake?
2s A I assumed so at this point, but I recall

Page 66

about the lake and having lived here as long as you
have - and I know you're not a structural engineer, I'm
not asking for a professional opinion in that
regard - do you think that a three-foot increase in the

lake level would cause substantial harm to residential
housing on the north shore ofthe lake, as it exists
right now?

A Actually, I do believe that. I believe that we
may - with the climate changes that wete seeing, and
I'm not a climate change person at all, but I know that
we ve had some major weather events in our country that

are unpredictable and that are surprising and that I
believe that could happen at any time here.

Q Okay. And I know you're not a hydrologist.
And, again. I'm not asking for an engineering opinion.
But do you have an understanding, in a general sense, as

to whether or not the operators ofthe Kerr and Hungry
Horse Dam are able to control lake levels?

MR MCCORMICK: objection; foundation and

speculation.
THE WTTNESS3 Could you repeat the

question?

Q (ByMr. Perry) Sure. In a general sense, and

I'm not asking for an engineering opinion, I'm just
asking your own personal opinion, having lived here as
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r reading that in the paper.
2 Q Given your experience witlt the Fish,
3 Wildlife & Parks agency in Montan4 and given your prior
4 testimony, when they submitted opinion letters on the
5 North Shore Ranch property, did you find them to be

e credible?
r A They sounded credible. I somewhat
s doubted - it's not that I doubted their information.
9 But I felt that they were pushing the envelope, having

10 not received that volume ofinformation from them on any

rr project before. I felt like it was -- they were pushing

12 the envelope, as far as reaching to get to trying to
13 influence us.
L4 Q They sure seemed interested to get a denial,
1s didnt they?
16 A I can't answer that, because I tried not to let
1? their information influence my decision.
18 Q Right; and I understand that. In a general
rs sense, though, do you recall the letters that were
20 submitted by FWP, in particular, repeatedly called for
zr denial ofthis project?
22 A I remember seeing the word "denial" in their
23 letters, but I cant recall how many times or anything.
24 But I do remember them.
2s Q kt me ask you a question, too, with respect to
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1 Q Sure.
z A I have an answer, but I need to hear it one

3 more time.
l Q Sure. lrt me - and I think - I see where you

s may be going with your answer, and let me see if I can

e just clarify the question.
z A Okay.
e Q Assuming, if you will, that the county had
9 reached a conclusion, the county commissioners, that no

r o subdivision application should be allowed if the land is

rr encumbered by the PP&L easement. If you make that
12 assumptron --
13 A Okay.
14 Q - hypothetical. If you make that assumption,
rs you'd degree with me that that limitation should be put
16 into the subdivision regulations so that landownen have

17 notice ofit.
18 A Yes, sir. Can I follow up?
le MR MCCORMICK: Yes.
20 Q @y Mr. Perry) No. No; go ahead.
2L A The PP&L easements are in
zz different - obviously, they run across the country.
2 3 And each area of our valley is different in makeup where

24 tle PP&L easement goes. So that's kind ofa broad
2s statement. But it doesn't really apply because it may
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subdivision application, you'd agree with me that the
way they are applied to the application, any
application, should be the same.

A Yes.

Q Okay. And would you agree with me that if the
county, Flathead County, intanded to enact a substantive
restriction on the ability of a landowner to develop his
or her property for residential housing, that a
subdivision applicant would be entitled to fair notice
of such a limitation?

A Yes. I'm not sure how you would --
Q Irt me give you an example.
A Yeah, give me one.

Q For instance, if the county intended to
prohibit residential construction within one hundred
feet of a stream, you'd agree with me that that is a
restriction that should be put into the county
regulations so that landowners have notice ofthat.

A Yes, sir.

Q And you'd agree with me that ifFlathead County
intended to prohibit all residential construction on
land encumbered by the PP&L easement, that that
restriction should also have been put into the
regulations so that landowners had notice ofthat.

A I need you to rephrase the question.
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1 be in an area that is up on a mountain. It's a lot
z different ground makeup than if it was down on the
3 shore. So -4 Q Sure.
s A - while I agree with your question, I had to
5 put that in.
z Q No; thank you for your clarification.
8 When you lived in Hawaii, you saw houses that
9 were built right on the seashore, did you not?

10 A Yes, sir.
11 Q They're common. They're everywhere in Hawaii;
12 right?
13 A Yes.
14 Q And Hawaii's a seismically active place too,
ls isn't it?
15 A Uh-huh.
L7 Q Yes?
1s A Yes.
19 Q And do you recall, in a general sense, when you
zo were in Hawaii, that the State ofHawaii or the county
zr in which you resided generally applied construction
zz requirements for fosusing that was in the flood zone?
23 A I would assume so.
24 Q And in Flathead County, though, during the
zs pendency ofthis application up to April 23, 2008, there

Gary Hall
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1 that language.
2 A It's going to be a quick answer. I have to go

3 to the bathroom again.
4 MR PERRY: Let's take a break.

s (Deposition in recess from 11:16 a.m. to
6 r \:Z.J a-m. I

7 Q (By Mr. Perry) You know, when I look through

a this file, the administrative record from the planning
s office all the way through the public meeting, it seemed

10 that there were a number ofplame$ who had been put on

r r this file then taken off then and a new person would get

12 put on and they'd get taken off. Do you know why there

13 were so many different planners involved in this
re application?
ls A No, I do not.
16 Q Okay.
L7 Would you agree with me that it would be unfair
18 for a given subdivision applicant to have subdivision
19 regulations applied to it in a manner inconsistent with
20 how those same regulations had been applied in the past

21 two other applicants?
22 A Each subdivision is unique and different fiom
z: the other ones, so I don't see how that would apply.
24 Q Okay. Well, with respect to the application of
zs subdivision regulations to any application, any
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was no building department; right?
A Yes, sir.

Q That's true?
A That's true, sir.

Q And do you recall that the building department
was disbanded, so to speak, in the'90s at some point?

A I believe that that's part of our history; yes.

Q Okay.
A I believe there was an attempt made for one. I

don't know if we ever had one, but there was an attempt

made to have one but not during my term.

Q And I see in Exhibit 40, the decision to deny
this application, with respect to the seismic issue, the
commission determined that because there was no county

employee who could verifu whether construction
techniques on the property would be safe, the commission

determined that that absence rendered the risk ofharm
posed by a seismic event incapable of mitigation. Do
you recall that?

A Yes.

Q You recall that.
A Yes.

Q Okay. So you'd agree with me as, I believe
Mr. Brenneman did yesterday late in the day, that it
wasn't so much the risk ofharm from a seismic event
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that the commission determined was a basis to deny the
North Shore Ranch application but, rather, the fact that
the county didnt have an employee -- a building
department, that could verift that proposed construction
techniques would be safe.

A That conversation was had; yes, sir.

Q And that was part ofthe final decision; right?
A Yes, sir.

Q Okay.
A As I recall.

Q Oh, and feel free to refer to Exhibit 40. So
you, as a commissionet would it be fair to say, that
you were of the opinion that because the county didn't
have a building departnent that could veri! the safety
of construction techniques, it was kind of a safer thing
to do to deny the application. Because without a

building department to veriry safety of construction
techniques, you thought there would be a risk ofharm.

A Yes.

Q Okay. And would you agree with me that the
county's lack ofa building deparhnent, or an employee,
who was charged with verifuing rhe safety of
construction techniques, was something that the
applicant, in this case, was incapable of mitigating,
this absence ofan employee?
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A Well, you better ask the question again,

because I'm starting to think like you, and it's scaring

me. Going way off here thinking of ways to -
Q That was not well-worded.
A I know.
Q Let me rephrase that. This concem that you

had and Mr. Brenneman shared that the cormty lacked a

building deparfinen1 or an employee, who could veri!
that construction -- proposed construction techniques on

this parcel ofland would be safe, that was - this lack
of an employee or a building depadment, that wasn't
something that the applicant could fix; right?

A I guess that's where I got tripped up. Because
the applicant actually could have provided an assurance

that each building was mitigated for in the soils and
the construction to assrre the cornmission that each

house would be safe. And in - not that they were
required to do that; they are not. And we did not
expect that, really. But when you say that he did not
have the opportunity to mitigate for that, again, I
cant answer that for you.

Q And I guess we can go back to the covenants
which are part ofthe file. And, frankln I don't have
them in front of me today. But I recall that the
covenants in this case required the construction of
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houses be subject to structural engineering constraints.
Do you recall that?

A I don't - I don't recall that. But ifyou say
that they're in there, in the CCRs, then they're in
there.

Q Why dont I just point you back to the exhibits
that we went over a little earlier, the Montana Helical
Pier exhibit and the CMG Engineering exhibit which is

Exhibit 46. Why don't we just start with Exhibit 46.
With regard to this issue about the safe construction of
houses on this property that some ofwhich was - had
some high groundwater, you and I discussed this document

a little earlier. And I mean, I think you'd agree with
me that this document, in a general sense, stands for
the proposition that there are structural engineering
techniques and construction techniques that would allow
for the safe construction ofhouses on the property;
fair to say?

A Fair to say.

Q Okay. And, you know, the helical pier issue,
it was addressed obviously by Exhibit 47 which was
attached to this letter. And I guess Im kind of
unclear as to, in your opinion, what other or additional
evidence the applicant could have submitted to address

any concem on the safety of construction techniques.
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1 MR. MCCORMICK: Objection; speculation,

2 relevance.
3 TII[. WTINESS: I can't answer that at this
4 time.
s Q (By Mr. Perry) Okay. And if the county -
5 MR. SIMON: Can I interrupt you just for a
7 SeCOnd?

I MR. PERRY: Yeah. Just a second.
s (Deposition in recess from 1 1:34 a.m. to

10 11:35 a.m.)
11 Q @yMr. Perry) Assuming for me, if you will,
12 Mr. Hall, that the CC and Rs regarding the North Shore
r: Ranch had design limitations with respect to housing on
14 the property, requirement that the houses be evaluated
15 in terms oftheir construction by appropriate engineers
16 and, also, that the applicant represented to tle
rz planning board that that requirement would trecone part
ls ofthe final plat, would that have - would tlat be
tg sufficient to assuage your concerns or not?
20 MR. MCCORMICK: Objection; calls for
z1 speculation.
22 THE WITNESS: Not.
2i Q @y Mr. Perry) Why?
24 MR. MCCORMICK: Again, obiection; calls for

25 sDeculation.
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r A Yes, sir.
z Q And with rcspect to that project, do you have
: any knowledge or understanding or beliofthat the
I Averill family deviated from the terms ofthe approval
s ofthe project by the county?
5 A Not that lm aware of, sir.
? Q Have you ever become aware of any enforcement
s action taken by the county, with respect to the
9 applicant in this case or either of their principles,

ro regarding their failure to comply with any county
tt ordinance or regulation?
L2 A I am not aware at this time.
13 Q Okay.
1{ Would you agree with me that it's unfair for
15 the county to deny a subdivision application predicated
16 upon the fact that the county itself lacks an agent to
ru ascertain whether or not residential construction
18 techniques would be safe?
19 MR MCCORMICK: Objection; speculation,

zo calls for a legal conclusion.
27 THE WITNESS3 I have to ask you questions

22 beoause it confuses me how I'm supposed to answer that.
23 Q @y Mr. Perry) Let me ask it again.
24 A Yeah.
2s Q Would you agree with me that it's unfair to an
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1 Trlr WTINESS: Just historically, the way
2 subdividers have treated the county in their - in
3 saying one thing and doing another.
4 Q (By Mr. Perry) And did you, yourself,
s personally - well, as a commissioner, have any prior
5 experience with the two principles of this developer,
z Keith Simon and Sean Averill?
s A No.
9 Q And in a general sense --

10 A That I can recall. I dont know Sean.
11 Q let me ask you this, ln a general sense,

tz you're aware ofthe Averill family here in the valley.
13 A Yes.
1{ Q And you're aware of Seanrs relatives who have
1 s developed properties in the vicinity of Kalispell?
15 A Yes, sir.
Li Q And, to your knowledge, has the Averill family,
1 8 in terms of dev€lopment, ever deviated from
19 representations made to the county?
20 A Not that Im aware of.
2L Q The Averill family has a pretty good rqrutation
zz around here for development, does it not?
23 A Yes, sir.
24 Q The Lodge at Whitefish is one of their
zs projects, is it not?
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applicant to deny his application predicated upon the
fact that th€ county lacks an agent to determine whether
or not proposed construction techniques on the property
would be safe?

MR. MCCORMICK: Same objection.
THE WITNESS: Yes.

Q (By Mr. Perry) And you'd agree with me that it
would be unfair to an applicant - well, strike the
question.

In your tenure as a county commissioner, would
it be fair to say that at the public meetings on a
subdivision applicatiorq you, in the past, and other
commissioners, have had occasion to discuss mitigation
with an applicant?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. And would it be fair to say that in your
history as a commissioner, at these public meetings on
subdivision applications, you and your fellow
commissioners have negotiated mitigation with
applicants?

A Yes, sir.

Q And in this case with regard to your concem
and Mr. Brenneman's concem regarding whether or not
housing could be safely constructed on this property, do
you recall whether or not anybody - any commissioner at
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the public meeting raised the issue ofan evaluation by
an independent professional engineering firm, as

mitigation?
A I do not recall that.

Q If the county had had a building department or
an employee who could, at the time of this application,

determine whether or not proposed construction
techniques were safe, one of the three bases for denial

ofthis application would not have existed; true?
MR. MCCORMICK: objection; speculation.

Q (By Mr. Perry) I'rn sorry; I didnt hear your
answer.

A Could you ask the question again?

Q Sure. Ifthe county had had a building
department at the time of this application, before you
voted on it - before you and Mr. Branneman voted on it,

one ofthe bases for denial of this application, that
being the county's lack of a building department --

A Now, you're asking another question. Start
again; I'm sorry. Because you started out with a
question and then you're - go ahead.

Q All right.
A I was tracking with you. Now you're on another

subject, and I'm trying to track with you.

Q Let me try to sinplifu it. Assume for me, if

L4
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unquote, of not allowing construction -- residential
construction on land encumbered by the PP&L easement.

Do you recall his use of that term?
A I don't recall that.

Q Now, you'd agree with me that if the county,
you as a commissioner when you served as a com.nissioner,

if you three commissioners intended to adopt a new
subdivision regulation that in any way limited anyone's

ability to develop land, that had to go through a

statutory process before it became a regulation.
A Yes.

Q Okay. So that people have a chance to comment

on it, the public gets notice of it; right?
A Yes, yes.

Q At the public hearing on April 23,2008, did
you fonn the conclusion that
Mr. Brenneman -- Commissioner Brenneman, was att€mpting

to create a new subdivision regulation at that hearing
with respect to this PP&L issue?

A No.
Q Okay.

You'd agree with me that a subdivision
applicant attending a public meeting before the
commissioners is entitled to a fair and impartial
hearing.

14

L7

24

L4
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you will, that at the time of this application the
county had a building department.

A Yes; okay.

Q Now, as you and I went over earlier, one of the
three bases for denial arose out of the lack of a
building department.

A It was one ofthe factors; yes.

Q One of the factors.
A Yes.

Q That factor wouldnt have existed if a building
department had existed at the time; right?

MR. MCCORMICK: Objection; speculation.

TEF WITNESS: True.

Q (By Mr. Perry) And I'm going to test your
knowledge of the suMivision regulations a little bit in
the county. You'd agree with me that the subdivision
regulations in effect in the county up to April 23,
2008, did not give any notice to a subdivision applicant
that his or her application could be denied due to the
lack of a building department in the county.

A I would agree with you.

Q I see in reviewing some of the documentation
with Commissioner Brenneman yesterday, he referred
during the course of the public meeting and as reported
in the Daily Inter Lake, to the "policy," quote,

18

20
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r A Yes.
: MR. MCCORMICK: Objection; misstates the

: law.
e MR PERRY: He's not entitled to a fair
s hearing?
6 MR MCCORMICK: Madison River RV -
z MR.PERRY: Yeah.
s MR MCCORMICK: - has a longer, more
g involved statement ofwhat Mr. Perry is referring to.

10 So I'm just noting for the record that there's a longer,
tt more involved statement.
L2 MR. PERRY: There always is.
13 Q (By Mr. Perry) You'd agree with me that a
u subdivision applicant is entitled to be treated fairly
15 by the county.
16 A I could agree with you on that. I mean, yes.

L7 Q Would you agree with me that it would be unfair
18 to single out any particular subdivision application in
rs order to apply county subdivision regulations in a
20 manner more harsbly than they had been applied to other

zr subdivisionapplications?
22 A Yes.
23 Q Would you agree with rne that it would be unfair
zl to a subdivision applicant to apply a subdivision
25 regulation to him or her at the hearing on the
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preliminary plat before the county commissioners when
that regulation had never previously been armounced or,
you know, put into the county regulations?

A Well, if the regulation isn't in the
regulations, then, clearly, you would not impose a
regulation thatrs not in the regulations on that
developer at that time.

Q Because that would be unfah, would it not?
A Yes.

Q Now. in reaching your decision on any given
subdivision application while you were a commissioner,
with respect to how you're going to vote on it, you'd
weigh the evidence, would you not?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And bias would be one issue that you
would look at, would you not, in weighing the evidence?

A Bias? A personal bias toward a project?

Q Toward a project.
A I tried to professionally not have a bias

toward any Foject.
Q Oh, I'm not talking about you. And thank you

for clarifuing my question.
My question really is, when you're weighing the

evidence provided by, you know, anybody with respect to
a project, whether it's FWP or a neighbor or anybody
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r A I would not.
z Q Okay. Ifyour wife had an interest in the
3 project -
I A I would not.
s Q Ifyou felt that you were so biased against the
e project that you questioned whether or not you could
? fairly treat the applicant, would you vote on the
e project?
9 A Yes.

10 Q Even though you questioned whether or not you
rr could fairly treat the applicant?
L2 A Yes, because I base my decisions on facts, not
13 bias.
L4 Q Okay.
r.s Would you agree with me that the US Fish and
16 Wildlife Service, the owner of the Flathead W?A, would
rz probably be in the best position to analyze and express
te opinions on potential impacts on the WPA posed by this
1e project?
20 A Yes.
27 MR. PERRY: why don't we do this? Could we

zz go off the record for a second?
23 MR. MCCORMICK: Sure.
24 (A discussion was held offthe record.)
25 (Deposition in recess from I 1:52 a.m. to
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t else, you, as a commissioneq when you look at that
z evidence, you take into account potential bias, do you
3 not?
a A I take into account all the information given
s to me and recognizing bias; yes.

6 Q As a factor to consider.
z A As a factor to consider.
e Q Both pro and con to development.
9 A Yes.

10 Q And would you agree with me that in considering
rr subdivision applications while you were a comm.issioner,

tz one ofthe facets, so to speah ofbias, would be
rs manifested by self-interest in the project?
14 A Yes, I guess.

1s MR MCCORMICK: Did you say "I suess." Did

16 you get that down?
L7 THE COIIRT REPORTER: (Nods head.)
18 THE WITNESS: Trying to understand
r9 " self-interest. "
20 Q @y Mr. Perry) Let me ask you a couple of
21 questions about serving as a commissioner and reviewing
22 subdivision applications. You, as a comnissioner during
23 your tenure in Flathead County, ifyou had a fioancial
24 interest in a given project, would you render a
2s decision?

Page 88

1 l:04 p.m.)
2 MR PERRY: Sir, I'd just like to take a
s little bit of time to go over some of the subdivision
I applications you had occasion to render final decisions
s on while you were a commissioner with the county.
5 (Deposition Exhibit No. 59 marked for
z identification.)
e Q (By Mr. Perry) And what lve marked as

9 Deposition Exhibit Number 59 to your deposition is the

ro subdivision Farmland Acres.
11 A Farmland Acres-
L2 Q Do you recall that project?
13 A No, I do not.
L4 Q Do you recall, in a general sense, referring
15 back to previously marked map, aerial, I believe marked
16 as Exhibit 58; is that correct?
L7 A That's up here. What's that?
18 Q That's Exhibit 58; right?
1e A Right.
20 Q The Farrnland Acres, can you point that out to
zr me?
22 A Right here (indicathg).
23 Q So it's in the vicinity of the Blasdel WPA?
24 A Yes.
2s Q And although it doesnrt immediately abut it,
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it's dam close; fair to say?

A LJh-huh.

Q Yes?
A Yes.

Q Now, you voted, did you not, to approve the
Farmland Acres subdivision?

A The record shows that I seconded the motion,
and the motion was approved.

Q Now, the one thing I noticed about the decision
in the Farmland Acres matter, on page three, there's an

indication made at paragraph F, and I quote, "This area

is located within one-quarter mile of a waterfowl
production area. As such, homeowners are hereby
notified that hunting is open in this area and that they
will need to keep p€ts from maming. Homeowners should

obtain information on the rules associated with the
Blasdel waterfowl production area and other relevant
information about the impacts of pets on birds," close
quote. Have I read that correctly?

A Uh-huh.

Q That's a yes?

A Yes.

Q And that's a decision dated - well, the
written decision datod April 5, 2004; correct?

A Yes.

Page 90

Q Now, back in 2004 when you were evaluating this
project, fair to say that you concluded that any
potential risk ofharm posed by hunters on the Blasdel
waterfowl production area was alleviated by requiring
that homeowners be notified that hunting was open in
that area and that they would need to keep their pets
from roaming; is that fair to say?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Now, this same issue, obviously, as you
recall, undoubtedly, was an issue that was raised with
respect to the North Shore Ranch project. And by that,
I mean, its proximity to the wPA with respect to risks
of harm posed by hunting; fair to say?

A Fair to say.

Q And in particular, it was an issue that was
raised by some of the commenting agencies. And I guess

my question to you is, you know, in 2008, were you still
ofthe opinion that the language in paragraph F of the
Farmland Acres final decision was appropriate and
sufficient to alleviate potential risls ofharm posed by
the Flathead WPA?

MR MCCORMICK: Objection; relevance.
TIIE WITNESS: In - in 2008, it was four

years after I rendered the decision on Farmland Acres.

Q (By Mr. Perry) tught.
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A During the course of those four years, we had

discussed this issue many times and always continued to

try to improve the mitigation for hunting in the

subdivisions that we approved close to a hunting area.

So this was right after becoming commissioner after a

year, and I know that it was always a concem ofours'

Q Okay. Ard the risk ofharm posed by hunting on
whether it's the Blasdel WPA or the Flathead W?A,
hunting in those two areas would pose identical - or
similar, ifnot identical, risks of harm; fair to say?

A Yes.

Q So ifthere's a risk ofharm posed by hunting
on the Blasdel WPA with respoct to residential
subdivisions that abut it and are in its vicinity, that
would be the same type ofrisk ofharm associated with
hunting on the Flathead WPA with respect to potential
houses on the North Shore Ranch property; true?

A Yes. At this point, I can say that. But
looking at th€ map, you know, if I was to be making my
decision today, there is a big difference in this
compared to this - this small subdivision compared to

this big subdivision with this small area of hunting.
Do you see what I'm saying?

Q Yeah.
MR. MCCORMICK: Could we note for the
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record the witness is pointing to Exhibit Number 58.
MR PERRY: Sure.

Q (By Mr. Perry) And I see at paragra.ph 12 of
Exhibit 59, the commissioners indicated in their final
decision on the Farmland Acres application, quote, "A
300-foot-no-build zone shall be placed on lots 7 and 8
to ofthe final plat to ensure living structues are not
within bullet range ofthe waterfowl production area,"

close quote. Have I read that correctly?
A Yes, sir.

Q Was that the - in your opinion, I mean, was
that the type ofprotection that was appropriate with
respect to the North Shore Ranch project?

A I dont know ifthat was, in fact - I dont
know what was said. Could you repeat your question?

Q Sure. lrt me just suggest to you that the
applicant on the North Shore Ranch project had proposed

an approximately 7O-acre buffer between the North Shore

Ranch land and the waterfowl poduction area Do you

recall that?
A Yes, I do.

Q Okay. And in a general sense, my question is,
this idea of a buffer between a place where people are

going to hunt and residential structures, as outlined in
Exhibit 59 at paragraph 12, that would be the same type

t
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1 ofprotection that the North Shore Ranch people offered;
z fair to say?
3 A Fair to say.
e (Deposition Exhibit No. 60 marked for
s identification.)
e Q (By Mr. Perry) And sir, in a general sense,
z I'm going to tum to another subdivision here. Do you
8 recall the Flathead River Landing project?
9 A I do not.

10 Q And Ijust presented to you Exhibit 60 to your
11 deposition, which is the final decision from the
12 Flathead Board of County Commissioners granting
13 conditional approval for this project. Do you recognize
1{ that document as such?
1s A Yes.
16 Q And fair to say that you and Mr. Watne, then
tz chairman ofthe Board ofCommissioners, you both voted
18 to conditionally approve this project.
19 A Yes, sir.
20 Q And this final decision is dated November 8,
2L 2006; is that correct?
22 A Yes, sir.
23 Q So just within a year or so before the North
24 Shore Ranch folks first submitted their application, I'd
25 suggest to you.
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certificates to have been obtained, in your opinion?
A No, no.

Q So would it be fair to assume that some or all
ofthis property was, in fact, in the floodplain?

A Yes.

Q And I see at paragraph e ofExhibit 60 to your
deposition, there's a discussion regarding wildlife. Do
you see that indication?

A Yes.

Q And fair to say that in paragraph e, the
commissioners for Flathead stated, and I quote, "Lot
owners are alerted to the presence of large and
potentially dangerous wildlife in the area and are
reminded feeding big game such as deer and bear is
illegl in Montana. Irt owners are strongly encouraged
to contact the Department of Fish, Wildlife & Parks to
obtain information on methods for safely living near
wildlife and minimizing habitat impact," close quote.
Have I read that conectly?

A Yes.

Q And was this kind of standard language, during
the first four years ofyour tenure as a commissioner,
with respect to, you know, the issue about living with
wildlife becoming part of the conditions of an approval?

A Each of the subdivisions that came before us

L4

L7

20
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Tuming to page two of Exhibit A, I see that at
paragraphs d and e, there are some conditions set forth
for the preliminary plat. Is that fair to say?

A Yes, sir.

Q And at paragraph d, the first condition on page

two ofExhibit A to Exhibit 60 to your deposition, is a
statement, and I quote, 'rElevation certificates for all
residential structures shall be subnitted to the
Flathead County floodplain administrator as stipulated
in floodplain permit FDP-04- I 7," close quote. Have I
read that correctly?

A Yes, sir.

Q Can you tell me what that condition means, just
in layman's terms? What are tlle commissioners saying in
that paragraph?

A I believe what they?e saying is that itjust
needs to be run through the Flathead Counry floodplain
administrator as to where the location of the house is
going to be placed on the property.

Q Okay. And would that presuppose that some or
all of this propeny was in the floodplain?

A I can't answer -- I do not know.

Q Well, let me ask you this way. If some or all
of this property had lot been impacted by the
floodplain, would there have been any need for elevation

L4

L7

20

25
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1 that had to deal with areas that had wild animals, we
2 dealt with it differently on each one, because we were
r always trying to do the right thing for the subdivision
n as well as the people that would eventually live there.
5 And a lot of the times it depended on how dense the
e subdivision was.
7 Q As a general proposition while you were a
8 commissioner rendering final decisions on subdivision
s applications, did the county usually require, ifthere

t o were covenants associated with the subdivision, that the
11 covenants include some language consistent with FWP's
12 Living With Wildlife document?
13 A Yes.
14 Q So tbat was generally required in covenants.
ls A Yes.
lG Q And do you recall that the applicants in the
17 Norlh Shore Ranch matter offered all ofthat language?

ls A I do not recall specifically, but I do remember
19 them offering generous mitigation for wild animals and

20 pets. But I don't recall the details to that.
2L Q Okay; fair enough. I didn't mean to intemrpt
22 yOU.

23 I see. also. that there's some additional
24 language in that paragraph e. And there's some nrmrbered

z: paragraphs under it. The county indicates as a
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condition that, number l, "Dogs must be kept under owner

control at all times, either leashed or confined." Have

I read that sorrectly?
A Yes.

Q And was that a condition that the county
generally applied to subdivisions of the t)?e and kind
represented by the Flathead fuver Landing? And by that

I mean a subdivision in the vicinity of either a

production area or wildemess area.

A Yes.

Q And that's language - well, strike the
question.

When you were a commissioner, were you at all
concemed that this condition with respect to dogs was a

toothless condition?
A Yes.

Q Okay. Did the county try to do anything, in a
regulatory manner, to add any teeth to that condition?

A I recall having a discussion, but I don't
recall the outcome ofthat discussion.

Q Okay. And I see there's some further
requirements set forth in that paragraph e with respect

to wildlife, including using bear-proof containen,
prohibition on compost piles, pets must be kept indoors

or food dishes brought in at night, and bird feeders
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must be placed out of reach of deer, bear and otler
large game. And my question is, are those five
conditions, including the dog condition, a set of
conditions that the commissioners generally applied to
subdivisions of the type and kind represented by North
Shore Ranch?

A Yes.

Q And I see that there's an indication at the
bottom of the page on page two of Exhibit 60 to your
deposition, and I quote, "A native vegetative buffer
should be maintained 20 horizontal feet from the bank
full ofFlathead River," close quote. Have I read that
correctly?

A Yes.

Q Fair to say that this project abutted the
Flathead fuver?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And you'd agree with me that that area
in which this subdivision was proposed is an area
characterized by high groundwater?

A What - yeah. Without looking at the
floodplain map, I would assume yes.

Q Okay. And the reason I ask that question is I
see on page three of Exhibit A to this exhibit, there's
an indication made in paragraph l l, and I quote, "No

Page 99

basements shall be allowed. The lowest floor and gas

forced air system with ducts below the floor shall be

elevated at least two feet above the BFE of2893.0 feet

MSL (applicant/agency comment)," close quote. Have I
read that conectly?

A Yes.

Q Now, it's true, is it not, that while you were

a commissioner before the decision on the North Shore

Ranch project, you had occasion, as represented by this
final decision, to review subdivision applications that
involved land with high groundwater.

A Yes.

Q And you and the other commissioners
consistently required as a condition of approval, to the

extent that such an application were to be approved,
that either no basements would be allowed or that it had

to be -- the residence had to be constructed on a slab.

A Yes.

Q And that was -- that would have been an

appropriate condition for the North Shore Ranch project,
given its high water table in various places, would it
not?

MR. MCCORMICK: objection; speculation.

TffiWITNESS:No.
Q @y Mr. Perry) Why not?

Pag6 r00

A In my opinion and my research, I felt that that
was -- at the time, you know, trying to recall what went
into my decision, Ijust didn't feel that it was - that
the land was the same as some ofthe other ones we had

seen and that that would work on that particular land.
ln some places it would worh most places it would not.

Q And I know I'm going back some time testing
your memory a little bit, but why did you think it would
work with respect to the Flathead River Landing
subdivision?

A I believe, because of my visual of the
property, I felt that it looked like it was high enougb
above the, you know, floodplain to be safe for homes.

And, again, you're testing my memory. And I dont
recall all that went into that decision.

Q Sure; and that's fair enough. And one ofthe
other things I noted in this final decision on that
project at paragraph l0 on page three ofExhibit A was

the statement, and I quote, "All buildings shall be set
back 50 feet from the 100-year floodplain boundary. The
boundary shall be staked in the field prior to the
application for final bracket (applicant corment),"
close quote. Have I read that correctly?

A Yes.

Q So it would be true, would it not, that up to
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the time of the denial of the North Shore Ranch project,
the county, and by "the county" I mean the Board of
Commissioners, had conditionally appmved at least one
subdivision that was in the five hundred year
floodplain.

A It appears to be, yes.

Q Do you know whether or not, while you were a
commissioner, any subdivision application was approved
that involved residential construction in the one
hundred year fl oodplain?

A I do not recall, but I carurot imagine that we
would approve that.

Q Okay. And do you know - again, testing your
memory. Do you know whethet or not there was a
prohibition, so to speak, in the subdivision
regulations, while you were a commissioner, that
prohibited construction in the hundred year floodplain?

A No.
Q Okay.

Now, obviously at the time that you considered
this application, the Flathead River Landing subdivision
application, you considered - you, yourself, considered
the Flathead fuver to be a sensitive area. Would that
be fair to say?

A Yes.

11
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r Q So it would be north of the North Shore Ranch
2 project; is that correct?
3 A Yes.
I Q And does the Pheasant Haven project, in your
s opinion, lie in proximity to the Blasdel waterfowl
6 production area?
z A No.
a Q Can you approximate for me - well, actually, I
9 see on Exhibit 58, we have a diagonal distance reading

10 of approximately 3,776 feet from the comer ofBlasdel
rr waterfowl production area to Pheasant Haven. Is that
12 fair to say?

r.3 A Okay.
L4 Q Do you see that?
15 A Yes.
t6 Q So that would be less than a mile; right?
L7 A Yeah, it would be less than a mile from Blasdel
18 to there.
1e Q And do you recall - and again, I'm testing
20 your memory a little bit. I know it was some time ago.
21 Do you recall, in a general sense, how many lots were
22 proposed for Pheasant Haven? Was it a big development,

23 little?
24 A There were big lots, but there weren't that
z s many of them. But I don't recall. Does it say? I

10
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Q So when you conditionally approved this
application along with Commissioner Watne, you did so

with full knowledge that this subdivision would abut a
sensitive river habitat. Is that fair to say?

A Yes.
(Deposition Exhibit No. 61 marked for

identification.)
Q @y Mr. Perry) Sir, the document I'm going to

mark as Deposition Exhibit Number 61 I suggest to you is

the commissioners' - Board of Comrnissionen' al4roval
ofthe Pheasant Haven subdivision. Do you recognize
ttrat as such?

A That's what the document says.

Q And do you recognize your signature on the
fust page?

A Yes.

Q And. obviously, you also recognize your
signature on the prior exhibit on the first page?

A Yes.

Q And in a general sense, can you describe for
rne, and please refer to Exhibit 58 ifyou need to, where
Pheasant Haven is located with respect to - well, if
you could tell me where it's located.

A Yes. It's further north, probably by four to
five miles, minimum, fiom Highway 82.

II

16

L7

24
25
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r don't know how many lots were in there.
z Q And in a general sense, when you conditionally
r approved the Pheasant Haven subdivision, would it be
4 fat to say that you didn't have any concerns about
s potential adverse impacts on the Blasdel WPA?
e A That's affirrnative.
7 (Deposition Exhibit No. 62 marked for
e identification.)
r Q @y Mr. Perry) And I do have a document that

ro will help you with respect to the numbet of lots that
11 were proposed on that subdivision. Marked as Exhibit 62
12 to your d€position is the March 24 - March 25,2004
rr planning board - I'm sorry - Flathead County Planning
u and Zoning office letter to the Board of County
15 Commissioners.
16 A Yes.
L7 Q Do you have that in front ofyou, sir?
18 A Yes.
re Q And fair to say that the preliminary plat for
2 o Pheasart Haven subdivision proposed 24 residential lots

21 on approximately 122 acres.
22 A Yes.
23 Q And I see that in referring back to the prior
zr exhibit, Exhibit 61, there is an indication made that
25 there was some open space associated with this
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r. subdivision. And ifl could rum you to page three of
: the final decision dated April 5, 2004, I see at

3 paragraph I l, there's an indication made that "The
l developer shall dedicate the 37.86 acre open space as

s parkland or dedicate 1.9 acres specifically as parkland

e with the rernainder as open space for the subdivision."
7 Have I read that correctly?
e A Yes.
s Q So out ofthe approximately 122 acres, 38-or-so

10 acres were proposed for open space.

11 A Yes.
L2 Q And that would have left about 80 acres for 22

13 homes -- or 24 homes.

14 A Yes.
15 Q Okay. Do you know, in a general sense, how big
16 the lots were?
L7 A I think they were - I think it was a ten-acre
18 density, but I dont know.
1e Q Well, in any event, we know that --
20 A Five or ten, ifl recall.
2r Q In any event, we know that the subdivision
zz application was conditionally approved and that it
zl called for 24 residences on approximately 122 aqes with
2{ a 38-acre set aside for open space.
2s A So you do the math.
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1 Q Right. There were some occasions on which you

2 found their opinions credible.
3 A Yes.
I Q And there were other occasions where you found

s their opinions not to be credible.
5 A Yes.
? Q And, obviously, as yourve testified, you took
e each application on an individual basis -
e A Yes.

10 Q - and looked at their opinions in each case.

11 A Yes, sir.
L2 (Deposition Exhibit No. 63 marked for
13 identification.)
14 Q (By Mr. Perry) The next subdivision I want to
15 talk about is on the Tiebucker subdivision. We talked a

1d liftle bit earlier about it today. Ijust want to ask

1? you some qu€stions about that one as well. Marked as

1s Exhibit 63 to your deposition is the final
xe decision -- oh, no, it's not actually. Strike that
20 question.
2L What we have in front ofyou, actually, is the
22 Flath€ad County Planning and Zoning office enclosing the

23 decision by the Flathead County Planning Board, dated

24 June 18th,2003. Do you recognize that?
25 A June llth.
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r Q I'm figuring about four acres,
2 thrce-and-a-half - three acres, maybe, with
3 infrastructure. Is that about right?
l A Yes, I would agree with that.
s Q Okay. And when you conditionally approved the
5 Pheasant Haven subdivision, you didn't have any concems

? about seismic issues; right?
8 A No, sir.
e Q Didn't have any concems about liquefaction.

10 A No, sir.
11 Q And as you testified, didn't have any concerns
12 about impacts on the WPA, the Blasdel WPA.
13 A True.
14 Q Okay. And do you recall - again I'm going to
1s test yoru memory a little bit. Do you recall that this
16 was one of the subdivision applications that the FWP
t7 team came out to speak against?
18 A Yes.
1e Q Okay. And, obviously, you disagreed with their
20 opinions?
2L A Yes.
22 Q And in a ganeral sense, would it be fair to say
23 that during your tenure as a cormissioner, you would
zl disagree with FWP opinions on more than one occasion.
2s A On more than one occasion. but not exclusivelv.

Pag€ '108

1 Q June l lth was the decision; right. The letter
2 itselfwas dated June 18th.
3 A I got you.
r Q And I know this was some time ago, and you may
5 not recognize this document, but I see on page three of
6 this document, before we get to the conditional approval
z final decision, I see on page three there's an
a indication made that this preliminary plat, the
g Tiebucker subdivision, proposed 38 lots on 20.45 acres;

10 fair to say?
11 A Yes.
L2 Q And so approximately 40 lots on about 20 acres.

13 About - well, it would be less than half an acre a lot
14 then; would it not?
1s A Yes.
16 Q Pretty dense subdivision, would you say?
L7 A Yes.
rs Q This was conditionally approved; right?

A Yes.

Q And when you conditionally approved it or vot€d

to conditionally approved it, you didn't have any
concerns about seismic risk of harm?

A Not at that time. And it was on a public sewer
system, so I recall that being one ofthe deciding
factors on approval.
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Q Okay. And you didn't have any concerns, in
voting to condiiionally approve this application,
related to liquefaction.

A No, sir-

Q And you didn't have any concems witl respect
to this subdivision's potential impacts on wildlife or
wildlife habitat in either the Flathead W?A or the
Blasdel WPA.

A No. sir.
MR. PERRY: And just for clarity of the

record, why don't I mark that final decision that you
and I have just discussed, otherwise your attomey will
castigate me later.

MR. MCCORMICK: My copy is actually
attached to -

MR PERRY: Oh, you have it; okay. Well,
I'lljust mark it as an independent Exhibit 64.

@eposition Exhibit No. 64 marked for
identification.)

Q (By Mr. Perry) Exhibit 64, and appended
obviously, apparently, to Exhibit 63, is the final
decision on the Tiebucker subdivision: fair to sav?

A Yes, sir.

Q And on the ffst page is -
MR. MCCORMICK: Actualy let me ask you a

15
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1 10th, 2005 letter that you just handed out is a
z resubdivision of four of the lots within the
r Tiebucker -4 MR PERRY: Oh, it is. Yeah, resale of
s lots 1,2,3,and4. All right. Well, letme seeif I
e can clear up the record,
? MR. MCCORMICK: Got another letter?
8 MR. PERRY: I might. Well, let me just
9 step back for a second.

10 Q @y Mr. Perry) Do you recall that the
xl Tiebucker subdivision, as you and I talked about a
12 little earlier, was a pretty dense subdivision, about
rr half an acre per lot, Do you recall that?
14 A Yes, it is.
ls Q And do you recall, in a general sense, that
16 there were approximately 40 lots involved,38 lots?
Li A Do I recall that?

Q Yeah. And maybe I'djust refer you back to
Exhibit 63.

A I had been commissioner for six months, so Im
having trouble remembering all the details ofthis.

Q Well, I just see in the Exhibit 63, the FCPZ
letter to the Board ofcounty Commissioners dated June

18,2003. I see on page two of Exhibit A to that
letter, as you and I discussed earlier, the subdivision

18

20
2L

24

25
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:. question. And we can do this off the record if you'd
z like. I'm seeing two different dates on the letters.
r 1'11 sesing a July 8, 2003 and a June 8,2004.
4 MR. PERRY: June 8, 2004.
5 MR. MCCORMICK: onet a phase one and one's

6 a phase two.
? MR. PERRY: Why don't we go off the record
8 forjust a second.
e (A discussion was held offthe record.)

10 Q (By Mr. Perry) Exhibit 64 is the conditional
u approval of--
L2 A Preliminary plat Tiebucker phase two.
13 Q Phasetwo. And do you recall that there were
14 two phases to this subdivision?
15 A I recall that.
15 Q And in a general sense, you recall that it was
rz phased, but tle subdivision itself was conditionally
re approved.
L9 A Yes.
20 MR. PERRY: Okay. And I think what we have

21 here is the first phase, Counsel.
22 MR MCCORMICK: I don't agree.
23 MR PERRY: Oh, wait a minute. No; youte
24 ight.
25 MR MCCORMICK: I would guess tbat the May
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r is described as being a 38Jot single family subdivision
2 on approximately 20.45 acres.
3 A Yes.
l Q And is that consistent with your memory?
s A Yes.
s Q Okay; fair enough.
z And the Tiebucker subdivision, would you say
e that that's in proximity to Pheasant Haven?
g A Well, is Pheasant Haven 255?

10 Q No. I beliwe Pheasant Haven is up top.
r.1 A Is that close proximity? Tiebuckers is down in
12 Somers. And Pheasant Haven is several miles away.
13 Q Several miles away; okay. Would you agree with
14 me that the Tiebucker subdivision is in proximiW to the
ls Flathead WPA?
15 A Yes.
ri Q Okay. And when this subdivision was
r e conditionally approved by yourself and the commission,
19 fair to say that you, yourself, anyway, didn't have any
20 concerns about advers€ impacts on wildlife or wildlife
z r habitat on the Flathead WPA associated with this
zz subdivision?
23 A I vaguely recall having that conversation, but
zl I don't recall. I'd haveto sayno.
2s Q You'd have to say no, that impacts on the WPA
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1 Were a concern of yours?

z A I would have to say that they were a concem of
3 mrne; yes.

r Q Okay. Would it be fair to conclude, though,
s given your vote to conditionally approve, that the

o applicant, in your opinion, had effectively mitigated
7 potential impacts on the WPA?
e A I carurot recall, sir.
s Q Okay. Well, let me ask you this question.

ro Would you have voted to conditionally approve that
u subdivision ifthere had been adverse impacts on
rz wildlife or wildlife habitat in the Flathead WPA that,
rr in your opinion, had not been mitigated?
1{ A After having been in office only six months, I
r.s would have to say if it was not mitignted, it would have

16 been a concern; yes.

L7 Q And if, in your opinion, it hadnt been
1s mitigated, would you still have voted to approve it or
rs conditionally approve it, rather?
20 A Yes.
2t Q Do you remember the Wachsmuth Estates
zz subdivision?
23 A No, sir.
24 (Deposition Exhibit No. 65 marked for
zs identification.)
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r Q Okay; fair enough.
z A I still don't know where it's at, but I guess

I it's irrelevant.
l Q During the time that you were a commissioner,
s do you know approximately how many lots w€re approved in

6 the vicinity? And by that I mean within ten miles of
7 the north shore ofFlathead Lake.
I A No, sir.
s Q And I just want to be clear on your testimony

10 here today. It's not your opinion, is it, that no
11 residential construction should be permitted in Flathead

12 County in areas of high groundwater.
13 A That's true. But that's depending on the
u conditions; yes.

15 Q And I appreciate that. Maybe I can just
re clarifu a little bit. If, in your opinion, when you're
rr looking at a subdivision as a commissioner, the only
18 issue that really catches your eye in a public health
x9 and safety context is high goundwater, would that be

zo enough, in and ofitself, for you to vote to deny an
21 application?
22 A No.
23 Q And that would be because you know that there
24 are conshuction techniques enabling people to safely
25 build, despite high groundwater.

Page 114 Page 1'16

A Yes.

Q And while you were a commissioner, as you and I
touched upon just briefly a little bit ago, it's true
that with respect to other subdivisions that had high
groundwater on some or all ofthe land, the county had

regularly conditioned approval ofthe application on an

ageement by the applicant to have no basements or to
build on a slab; right?

A Each subdivision being unique, that was ooe of
the tools that we used; yes.

Q Okay. And, again, in your opinion, that was
calculated to make the structures safe; right?

A Yes, sir.

Q Aside from this application - and I know I'm
going to.test your memory a little bit again - but
aside from this application, to your mernory, while a

commissioner for Flathead County, did you ever vote to
deny a subdivision application predicated upon its
potential impacts on wildlife or wildlife habitat in the
Blasdel or Flathead WPAs?

A I don't recall. It seems like that I did. It
seems like that I did, but I don't recall exactly.

Q Fair enough. Fair enough. Iknowitwas some

time ago. Thought I'd test your memory.
A Well, I failed.

r Q (By Mr. Perry) I show you the conditional I r
z approval for that subdivision. The Wachsmuth I z

r subdivision, do you rccall having voted, in December of | :
l 2005, to conditionally approve ttre Wachsmuth | 4

s subdivision? | s

o A Did youaskif I recalled doing that? lez Q Yes. sir. I z

I A ldonot. ls
r Q Do you recognize on the first page ofExhibit ls

ro 65 your signature? llo
11 A ldo. 111

L2 Q Okay. Would it be fair to say that you voted I rz
13 to conditionally approve this subdivision? lu
t4 A Yes. lu
ls Q And do you recall, in a ganeral sense. how big lrs
16 that subdivision was? lre
r7 A No. lrz
18 Q Okay. And does referring to Exhibit 58 at all l1s
rs refresh your recollection with respect to how big the I rs
20 Wachsmuth suMivision was? l2o
2r A No, sir. lzr
22 Q Okay. And just in a general sense. do you lzz
23 recall whether it was a real big subdivision, a little lzs
zr one, in the middle? lz+
2s A I do not. lzs
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Q You'd agree with me that it would be unfair to
an applicant to deny his or her subdivision application
predicated upon potential impacts on wildlife or
wildlife habitat and to allow another application if
that other application posed the same potential impacts
on wildlife or wildlife habitat?

A As one ofthe factors. It would not be the
only factor. So what yourre safng is that I would not
deny a subdivision based onjust that issue, the
wildlife.

Q Well, no. And let me rephmse the question. I
appreciate your confu sion,

Ifthat were the only issue, everything else
looked okay in terms of a public health and safety
aspect -- context, but the only issue that really was of
concem io you was potential impacts on wildlife and
wildlife habitat, would you agrer with me that it would
be unfair to deny one subdivision application filed by
one applicant, predicated upon potential impacts on
wildlife and wildlife habitat, but to allow another
subdivision application that posed the same potential
impacts?

A Depending on the volume of residents on that
particular subdivision would be the determining factor.
The fact that it's just wildlife and if they're both

11

t4

16

L7
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on wildlife or wildlife habitat at the Flathead WPA
posed by the Eagle Bend subdivision ever been quantified
or studied by tle county?

A Not to my knowledge.

Q Now, with respect to the North Shore Ranch
project, Ijust want to be clear, in terms of your
opinion as codified in the denial ofthe application.
Was it your opinion that due to the PP&L easement, the
seismic issue that you and I have discussed, and the
potential impacts on wildlife and wildlife habitat in
the WPA, that the North Shore Ranch property cannot be
utilized in any way for residential construction?

A You better rephrase that, because I got the
last half and forgot the fint half.

Q My question basically is, you and I have gone
over the final decision from the Flathead commissioners
denying the application. And given the reasons for tle
denial -

A Yes.

Q - the seismic issue, the wildlife and wildlife
habitat issue and PP&L issues -

A Yes.

Q - was it your opinion then, when you voted to
deny the application, that this land is just completely
unsuitable for any residential construction?

1,1

16
t7

20
2L

24
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t identical, no, I would not be able to deny based on just
2 that one factor.
r Q And, again, wejust come back to equality of
4 treatment.
5 A Right.
s Q Ifthe two applicants ar€ virtually identically
'r situated, and the habitat issue - wildlife and
s habitat's the only issue -
e A Right.

10 Q - you can't deny one and allow the other;
u rigbt?
L2 A I agree.
13 MR MCCORMICK: Objection; misstates the

1{ law.
ls Q @y Mr. Perry) lm sorry?
15 A I would say yes.
L7 Q Okay.
r.8 To your knowledge, has the Eagle Bend
rg subdivision ever been flooded in, say, the last forty
20 years?

2L A Not to my recollection.
22 Q To your knowledge, has the Eagle Bend
u: subdivision ever been harmed by liquefaction?
24 A Not to my knowledge.
2s Q To your lnowledge, have any potential impacts
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r A No.
z Q Okay. So it was your opinion at that time that
I although this subdivision application you felt you could
{ not vote to approve, there could be some design for this
s land that could be approved. Would that be true?
5 A Yes.
? MR MCCORMICK: Are you seeking an
8 objection?
e MR PERRY: No, I was just - I was glad to

10 see he conoborated some statements you recently made,

11 MR MCCORMICK! I speak nothing but the

12 truth.
13 MR PERRY: I know that. Counsel. I know
14 that.
1s Q @y Mr. Perry) In rendering a final decision
re on a preliminary plat, while you were a commissioner,
1? it's true, isnt it, that, to some extent, you relied
ra upon the final staffreport from the Flathead County
19 Planning and Zoning people.
20 A Yes, sir.
2r Q Okay. And would you agree with me that the
22 planning staffin place at the time that the North Shore
23 Ranch project was going througb the county plaming and

zr zoning office were competent at what they did?
2s A Yes.
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r Q And during the time you were a commissioner,
: did you have any question regarding the competency of
I B.J. Grieve as a planner?
4 A Never.
5 Q Very comPetent Planner.
6 A Very.
z Q And, obviously, before you voted to deny this
e project, it had already been before the plarming board;
9 correct?

10 A Correct.
11 Q Okay. And ld suggest to you that the planning
12 board voted five-to-one to recommend approval of this
13 project. Do you recall that?
L4 A Yes, sir.
ls Q Okay. Ald was it common for you to disagree
15 with the planning board, in terms of its recommendations

17 on whether or not a given subdivision application should
18 be approved or conditionally approved or denied?
19 A I would hesitate to use the word "common" but
20 not uncornmon either.
2! Q Okay. Can you give me a p€rcentage ofthe time
22 when you would disagree with the planning board? I
23 mean, just an estimate.
24 A Over a period ofsix years, maybe ten percent.

2s Q Ten percent of the time. So 90 percent of the
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1 time you agreed with the planning board.
2 A Yes.
: Q And would those same figures hold tue with any
4 planning staffrecommendations that might have been made

s in the final staffreport? Did you generally agree with
e them as well?
? A Yes.
e Q And would it be about ten percent ofthe time,
9 also, that you didnt agree with planning staffs final

10 report?
11 A I'd say that's - yes.

L2 Q And you'd agree with me that at the time the
13 North Shore Ranch application was reviewed by the
u Flathead County Planning Board, the members ofthat
rs planning board were competent to review that
16 application?
L7 A Yes.
1s (Deposition Exhibit No. 66 marked for
rg identification.)
20 Q (By Mr. Perry) Sir, the document marked as

z r Exhibit 66 to your deposition, if you could just take a

zz quick look at that. Ijust really wanted to inquirc
zr about this Plan Web Account that I see referenced at the
24 top ofthe page. And without taking the time to read
2s the whole document, I suggest to you that it's a letter
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r fron the Flathead Lakers, dated July l8th,2006, from
z Robin Steinkraus. And it was sent to the Plan Web
3 Account. And I see at the top ofthe page, page one of
4 this document, there's an indication made that it was

s Kirsten Holland, a former planning employee here for the

s county, who printed the document. Do you see that
z indication?
e MR. MCCORMICK: Objectioq foundation.

9 THE WITNESS: Yeah, I - it was to her, so

10 I assume that she printed it.
11 Q (By Mr. Perry) My question is, what is the
12 Plan Web Account?
13 A I would - I have - I would have to ask you
14 that. I have no idea.

15 Q Have you ever heard ofthat before?
15 A I don't recall seeing that before. Ikindof
rz vaguely recognize it, but I don't have any idea what
lE it's about.
1e Q And I see in the text -- or the body, rather,
20 on the first page ofthe letter from Robin Steinkraus to

21 the Plan Web Account, it says via e-mail,
zz planningweb@co.flathead.mt.us. Do you see that?
23 A Planningweb; yes.

24 Q I mean, sitting here today, have you never
zs heard ofthat -
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r A I have never heard ofthat. All the
2 coffespondence between my planning staffand myselfwas

r always their first initial and last name at

l co.flathead.mt.us.
s Q Right; that's what I thought as well. And in
6 revi€wing documents, I found this Plan web Account. And
z I was just wondering if you knew what it was or what was

I kept there.
g A No, sir.

ro Q Okay.
11 A Idonot. Iofact-no. It reminds me of
12 what's going on now.
13 Q Yeah, it does, doesnrt it? Do you know ifJeff
1{ Haris has any involvement with that account in any wal
1s A I do not know that.
15 Q Okay. And let me ask you kind ofan
rz organizational question with respect to JeffHarris.
18 A Yes.
re Q Jeff Harris, what was his position while you
zo were a commissioner?
2t A He was the planning director.
22 Q And did you, as a commissioner, exercise or
zl have the authority to exercise any conhol over him as a

zr county employee?
2s A Yes.
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Q And while you were a commissioner, with respect

to Jeff Harris, did you ever try to direct or control
what he did for the county?

A There were many times that I questioned his
procedures. But as to -- as far as controlling him and
how he ran his oIfice, no, I did not. But I would
question him fiequently on his - either his methods or
his information presented.

Q And in this case, having gone through all the
documents and thousands ofpages your attorney was kind
enough to provide to me, I notice that the applicant was

directed by Jeff Haris during the process, to take what
he called a mid-course correction. Have vou heard that
term before?

A I've heard that term before.

Q Okay. And what's your understanding ofthat
term?

A ln - specifically related to this case?

Q Or in the subdivision process in general.
A I recall it happening very infrequently. Ido

not recall a mid-course correction. I don't recall
specifics of a mid-course correction with the North
Shore Ranch subdivision. I recall hearing something
about that but was not privy to what was going on behind
the planning office doors in that - in their

L4
15

15

t7
t8
19

20
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1 that wasn't codified anywhere in the subdivision
2 regulations, was it?
r A No, sir.
r Q Was this a creation of Jeff Harris? And does
s that pertain to one ofthe issues -- one ofthe
s procedural issues that you questioned him on?
7 A I do not have recollection of correcting him on
8 a mid-course correction in this particular subdivision.
s Q Did you ever criticize him in any way for

10 this -
11 A Mid-course correction?
L2 Q Yes, sir. Just the idea that he was doing this
rs without -- essentially without any authority, in a
rr regulatory sense?
1s MR. MCCORMICK: Objection; assum€s facrs

re not established.
L7 THE WTINESS: My only recollection is
ra conecting JeffHaxris in the way he handled some ofthe
19 developers, and - but I cannot give you any specifics.
20 Q (By Mr. Perry) Okay. Ald what did you
2 1 question him on, in terms of how he related to some of
22 th€ developers? What were the issues with which you
z3 were concerned?
24 A I felt that, at times, it was -- it became
z s personal and the facts of the case were not justirying

10
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relationship with our director.
Q Okay.
A You know, I'm trying to think of other cases.

But, you know, sometimes they'll -- yeah, they'll talk
about changing density because it just isnt working
because there's too many areas that are in the
floodplain and not enough building sites. So llat's a
mid-course correction. But I do nol recall the
specifics ofthis subdivision and JeffHarris and any
kind of mid-course correction.

Q And I suggest to you my understanding is that
after the - there was a planning board hearing
regarding the initial application that had 310 lots,
approximately.

A Okay.

Q And after the planning board initially decided
to recommend denial io the county, to the conrmissioners,
yourself and Mr. Brenneman and Mr. I-auman, the applicant

was informed - this is my understanding, and corre€t me

iflm wrong. Justhold off. Correct me if fm wrong.
The applicant was informed that there was

available this mid-course correction option. And my
question is, this mid-course correction
option - despite my perhaps inaccurate description of
the procedural history - this mid-course correction,

11

1.6
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x his reactions. And I didn't have justification for it,
2 but I sensed that it was personal -- his -- he was
: imposing his personal ideas into th€ project more than
l what the facts were.
s Q Okay; fair enough. So his personal kind of
5 bias entered into the planning process?

? A At times.
e Q At times.
s A Frequently.

10 MR PERRY: If we take five minutes, I
rr think we're darn close.
L2 MR MCCORMICK: Sure.
13 (Deposition in recess from 2:02 p.m. to
14 2:08 p.m.)
rs Q (By Mr. Perry) kt me ask you a question. Was
15 there anybody at the county, on th€ commissioner level,

rz who, in any way, oversaw JeffHarris's conduct on a
re weekly or monthly basis?
le MR MCCORMICK: I'm going to object for
zo relevance purposes.
2r THE WTII\ESS: No, other than staff.
22 Q @y Mr. Perry) Other than staff. And can you
2 3 tell me what, if any, relationship did you observe
24 between Commissioner Brennernan and JeffHanis?
2s MR. MCCORMICK: Same obiection.
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THE WITNESS: I did not observe any
relationship.

Q (By Mr. Perry) My client reminded me at the
break that one of the documents we got from FWP
referenced a secure website at the county. Are you
aware of a secure website here at the county?

A No. sir. I am not.

Q Okay. Having been a commissioner for the
period of time that you were, would it be fair to say

that the operation and maintenance ofthe county
websites or website, as the case may be, was something

that you may not have had direct confrol over but you

had the authority to have control over?
A Yes.

Q And would it be fair to say that if somebody at

the county were going to create a secret or secure

website, that's information that should have been
provided to the commissioners?

A Yes.

Q And this website that I've referenced, and I'm
sure I'll discuss it with Mr. Harris (sic) tomonow, I
believe it's on a server here at the county, but I'm
uncertain of that. Do you know if the county maintains
any website or secure server offthe premises?

A No. I have never heard ofone: no.
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r Q Okay.
2 Since the approval ofthe Eagle Bend
: subdivision, have you ever come to leam whether or not
4 pets from that subdivision have represented an increased

5 trespass or harm to the Flathead W?A?
e A No. We're talking about here. And this is
z way - this only goes up to about here (indicating).
a Q And doesn't it go down?
9 A Does it go all the way over to here?

10 Q Well, the Flathead waterfowl production area
11 also lies to the south of Harbor Village there. You see

12 tlat isthmus or peninsula (indicating)?
13 A This right here (indicating)?
!.{ Q Just up to the right of it, right there.
1s That's part of the waterfowl production area.
16 A I did not realize that until this moment.
r7 Q That is part ofthe waterfowl production area.

18 My question was, since the Wanagant subdivision was

ts approved, have you ever come to leam that pets from
zo Eagle Bend, fiom that subdivision, have represented any
u r increased harm or trespass on the Flathead WPA?
22 A No, sir.
23 Q Okay.
24 As a commissioner from 2002 to 2008, did you
zs have - did you have any authority over the county
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r sheriffl
z A No.
3 Q Was that an agency that was overseen by
l somebody else?
s A That is an elected office similar to the

5 commission office. So they were autonomous. The only
? thing we had to do with the sheriffs office was their
a budget.
s Q Their budget.

10 A Yes, sir.
11 Q A fair amount of control when you have the
12 purse strings in your hand, though, you would agree with
13 me.
14 A Yes, sir.
r.s Q Did the sheriff ever come to you or any dsputy
rs sheriff, or anybody from the sheriffs d€partment at any

1? point in time while you were the commissioner, and tell
18 you, in words or substance, We have a trespass problem

19 with respect to the Flathead WPA; dogs, cats or horses,

:o whatever? Did they ever come to you and have that
zr conversation?
22 A Sir, I recall a conversation, but I do not
z: believe it was with the sheriffs office.
24 Q Okay.
2s A I don't recall when or where, but I had heard
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r of infractions and concerns. But I do not believe it
z was from the sheriffs oflice.
3 Q And let me ask you another way. Insofar as the
l commissioners controlled the budget for the sheriffs
s department - sheriffs office, do you recall whether or
6 not there was ever any request made to the comrnissioners

z for increased funding in order to combat trespass on
s either the Blasdel WPA or the Flathead WPA?
g A No, sir.

10 Q That did not happen?
11 A Not that I recall.
L2 MR PERRY: If I could have a minute, I
13 think I'm just about done.
14 (Deposition in recess from 2:15 p.m. to
rs 2: l5 p.m.)
16 MR PERRY: I think I have no further
1? questions. I can't thank you enough for your time
18 today, Mr. Hall.
19 (Deposition concluded at 2:15 p.m.; witness
20 excused, signahrre reserved.)
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